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My Remembrances of Twin Lakes 
By JENNIE KURTZ NEUSCHLER (MRS. EDWARD) 

John Francis Campion, one of the outstanding mining men of the 
West, built an exceptionally beautiful home at Twin Lakes, Colorado, 
for his bride in the summer of 1895. It was one of Colorado's most 
elaborate mountain homes, during the mining boom era. 

With the encouragement of Mrs. A. Bullock-Webster (nee Phyllis 
Campion), Mrs. Edward Neuschler of Colorado Springs, has written 
the following remembrances of the Twin Lakes house, when she was 
Jennie Kurtz, nurse and governess of the Campion children. Mrs. 
Neuschler says she was with the Campion family "twenty-one years 
straight," and later, "off and on."-Editor. 

Mr. John F. Campion1 built his house at one of the most 
beautiful and interesting spots in Colorado at Twin Lakes, 
eighteen miles from Leadville, among beautiful mountain 
scenery. The Upper Lake at the bottom of Twin Peaks joins 
the Lower Lake by a small stream. Close to the Upper Lake 
was the summer home of John Campion. It was located on a 
hill, completely fenced in, and was the only home for miles 
around . 

The house was a large, white, frame building trimmed in 
green. There was a big porch all along the front. Steps led up 
to the front door into a large living room finished like a Swiss 
farm house. The fireplace in it was rough stone with the inlaid 
words "Caed Mille Failthe," in Gaelic. That meant "One 
hundred thousand welcomes." The interior was furnished 
with many hand-carved pieces, bric-a-brac, comfortable win­
dow seats with cushions, great, deep arm chairs of all kinds 
and many tables. 

One beautiful piece was a large, carved black bear. This 
was used as a hat rack. The largest picture in the living room 
was a copy of the famous "Lion of Lucerne." At one side stood 
a player piano. Two closets in the hall were filled with cos-

'John F r a n cis Campion was born in the par is h o f St . A n drew, Queen s 
County, Prince Edward I sla n d, on December 17, 1846. H is father, Michael 
Brevort Campion, shipbu ilder a n d owner, " ·en t to Cali fo rnia to make hi s home 
in 1862. Later, w ith h is family he lived for twenty years in Leadvill e, Color ado, 
wher e he died. John F r a n cis Campion obtained h is sch ooling in St . A n dr ew 
parish a n d at P ri nce of Wales College. During Lhe Civ il W a r , in t he U ni ted 
States, he ser ved as a Union quartermaster. At the c lose of the war he wen t in to 
mining in Californ ia. There he acquired a cons iderable fortune. l\Ir. Campion 
retur ned in 1878 to Prillce Edward Isla n d, wher e he served for a year as a 
member of Parliament . About a year later he a rrived in Leadvill e, Co lorado. 
l\Iany mining properties passed through his hands . He was General Man ager 
of the Ibex Mining Company; director of the Car bonate Xational Ban k of 
Leadville; v ice president of the Denver National Bank a n d of the Den ver North· 
"·estern and Pacific Railway. Fl e was one of the fou n ders of t he s ugar beet 
industry in Colorado. On April 15, 1895, John C. Campion married Nellie Ma y 
Daly, daughter of John and Margaret (Tuohy) Daly. They became the paren ts 
of two sons: John F., Jr., and Roland; and of two daugh t ers, Helen a n d Phylli s. 
-JI.fen and Women of Colorado-Past and Present. (Phoenix, Tucson , Den ver : 
P ion eer P ub lish ing Co. 1944.) Helen fi r st married John C. M ul vihill, who d ied in 
1942. The n ext year sh e m arr ied Lt. Col. Geor ge Cook. M r s . Cool< d ied in 1947. 
l'hylli s Cam p ion is Mr s. Aubr ey B ullock- Webster of San Marino, Cali fo rnia. 
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LIVING ROOM OF CAMPION HOME, TWIN LAKES 

on left is can·ecl bear hat tree. Abo\'e fireplace is Gaelic greeting, "Cacd Mille 
Fcti!the,, meaning "a hundred thousand welcomes to you." The head and antlers 
ot the ~eer below the mantle were said to be the handsomest and largest in the 

State of Colorado. 

tumes. There was a small dais for a stage, for in those days 
people were fond of amateur theatricals or charades, and the 
costumes were put to good use. 

To the left a large dining room seated about twent~-five. 
Behind the dining room were a butler's pantry, the kitchen 
with large pantries, and a back porch which was enclosed .fo~ 
the help's dining room. Above the porch were the maids 
rooms. A door led from the back porch to two storage houses. 
One was the ice house; and the other for storage. 

From the living room a stair led to the upstairs sleeping 
quarters, fourteen guest rooms and private quarters for .the 
family , which then included Mr. and Mrs. John F. Camp10n, 
Baby John and Nurse. I do not remember how many bath­
rooms there were. The house was built while Mr. and Mrs. 
Campion were in Europe, and they brought home many Swiss 
pieces to use in the house. 

A large room next to the living room was the billiar~ room. 
There was also a shooting gallery with all the eqmpment. 
A side door led across the drive to the bowling alley and play 
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room. Beyond was the stable for six driving horses, four 
riding horses and two work horses. Above the stables were 
rooms for the coachmen and workmen. 

Connected to the stables were the dog kennels: five for 
hunting dogs, and one for a very large and beautiful St. 
Bernard, as protection and a pet for Johnnie. 

In the Upper Lake were six beautiful white swans and 
some rowboats for fishing. In the Lower Lake was a large 
launch named Ibex, kept in a boathouse. A rustic bridge 
crossed the stream and the young ladies were fond of being 
photographed there. Parties were taken out in the launch over 
the lake by the engineer from the powerhouse. 

Other buildings scattered about on the property were the 
laundry house, the powerhouse for electricity and a lovely 
three or four room house for the caretaker. 

Four or five times during the summer season guests were 
entertained at large house parties. On Friday evening or early 
Saturday morning the coachman and the footman would drive 
to Leadville in a large coach or four-in-hand, sometimes called 
a tallyho, to pick up the guests. Some came from Leadville; 
and some from Denver. On reaching the top of the hill near 
the Twin Lakes house, Crawford, the coachman, would blow 
his horn. The stable boy ran to open the gates and everyone 
in the house ran out to the rustic gate that led to the driveway. 

-After admiring the view from the green lawn, all would 
file in for a good lunch, a rest and then the fun began. There 
was usually a different crowd every time. The guests could 
fish, hunt, walk or go boating on the lake. Sometimes they 
spent time shooting clay pigeons. Mr. Campion was an expert 
shot and once in awhile would shoot blackbirds, which meant 
that the chef would prepare blackbird pie for dinner. How 
they loved it! The chef worked hard to make the guests all 
fat, for the altitude gave them large appetites. 

Mr. Campion, who loved being on the water, would often 
take Johnnie and his Nurse out in a rowboat. Sunshine, rain, 
thunder or lightning made no difference. Several times we 
were all soaked to the skin, but Mr. Campion kept rowing on 
unconcerned, while 'W'.e sat shivering and thankful when we 
r eached the pier. Mrs. Campion would never go on these 
expeditions. There is a story that the lake has no bottom and 
many deep holes and that a drowning person can never be 
found. 

Mr. Campion would drive to Leadville Monday morning 
to his office, not to return until Friday evening. He usually 
took the roadwagon and sometimes Mrs. Campion, Johnnie 
and his Nurse would ride part way with him and walk back. 
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On one of these trips they were chased by a big black cow. 
A few cattle were grazing loose by the road. The cow had 
probably never seen a woman. We all ran for our lives with 
J ohnnie in the middle, and made for a dilapidated outhouse 
with a door hanging on one hinge. We got in and held the door 
while the cow took out her anger on the door. We remained 
there for some time before the animal got tired and we were 
able to get out and make for the fence and home. 

Sometimes the family was invited to parties in Leadville. 
Mrs. Campion, Johnnie and Nurse would drive in the carriage 
with the coachman to spend the night with Mr. and Mrs. 
George Campion (a brother of Mr. John), who lived across 
the street in Leadville from Mr. and Mrs. A. V. Hunter.2 

To run such a large house and with many persons coming 
and going, a large staff was required for the Twin Lakes 
house. The staff included two maids, one laundress, two 
butlers, one yardman, one coachman, one footman, one stable 
boy, one chef, one kitchen helper, one engineer or electrician 
and the caretaker. 

Driving with Mr. Campion in his buckboard was worth 
your life. He drove like lightning and seldom slowed for 
curves. Sometimes only two wheels would be on the ground, 
the other side would be suspended in air. Anyone with him 
had to hang on to his neck or to his coat to keep from falling 
out. This he would not even notice. He was absolutely fearless 
and never had a mishap, always getting to his destination. 

One time the workmen at Twin Lakes hitched the work 
horses to the big workwagon to carry some stuff away. One 
horse was mean and unruly. The .men were scared of the 
horse. When the wagon drew near the lake the rascal horse 
ran right into the lake, drowning the good horse. The bad one 
survived. 

The guests at Twin Lakes had a fine time. They danced, 
played games and charades, ate enormous meals and did some 
drinking, but there never was any carousing or misbehaving. 

While Mr. Campion was building his big house at 800 
Logan Street in Denver, 3 the family lived in a smaller house 
on the Northwest corner of Ninth and Logan Streets. John Jr. 
was born one year after the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. 
Campion. They used Twin Lakes during the summer and 
moved to 800 Logan that fall. 

'A. Y. Hunte r , one of Coloratlo's o utstanding bankers, recei\·erl hi s early 
training in the People'~ Bank in Colorado Springs, and la t e r in Leadville. 1.'pon 
the death of David II. :llnffat, in rn11, Mr. Hunte r became the president of the 
First National Bank of IJPnver. 

' This home, still >tantling, i~ headquarters of th e American Herl C r oss in 
Denver. 
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CRAWFORD, THE COACHMAN, WlTH TALLYHO AND FOUR 

At Campion lioorstep, Twin Lakes. 
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Mr. Campion was a very amusing man and had nicknames 
for friends and family. Mrs. Campion he called "Flannel­
mouth" or "Pokey." John Jr. was "The Old Man." Helen be­
came "Fatty"; and Phyllis, "Ikie" because she could not say 
"I see." Roland's nickname, I do not remember. I came to the 
Campion family when little John was twenty-two months 
old. At that time Mrs. Campion had a bad attack of arthritis 
or rheumatism, and was sent to Arkansas Hot Springs for the 
hot baths. I went along, too, with little John, and when we 
returned we went direct to Twin Lakes. We did not though 
stay long, as Mrs. Campion was not feeling well. She was 
expecting her second child. When Mr. Campion learned that 
the Lower Lake was to be used for irrigation, he sold the 
Twin Lakes home. The house became the Hotel Campion and 
was eventually destroyed by fire-the end of a beautiful 
summer resort. 

But if any of the people who were guests at Twin Lakes 
are alive, they can tell you of the good times at the Campion 
home. Guests I remember are: Mr. and Mrs. John C. Mitchell, 
Mr. and Mrs. A. V. Hunter, Mr. and Mrs. William Byrd Page, 
Mr. and Mrs. James B. Grant (one-time governor of Colo­
rado), Mr. and Mrs. A. A. Blow, Mr. William Blayney (before 
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his marriage), Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Daly, Mr. and Mrs. 
George Campion, Miss Lillian Hurd• (considered the most 
beautiful young woman in Denver and godmother of the 
second Campion child, Helen) , and many young people from 
Leadville and Denver. 

Some of the young men went off to the Spanish War and 
never returned. I imagine that all these people have passed 
on and that I am the only one left who remembers Twin Lakes 
when it was the center of social life in the Leadville area. 



Reminiscences of Fred A. Nichols 
As told to J. N. NEAL':' and recorded by Mrns NANCY NICHOLS 

I was born up near Walden in North Park in the year 1884, 
although there was no Walden there at that time. My folks 
moved to M2eker in July of the same year, when I was three 
months old. I started to school in 1890 to Mrs. W allbridge and 
I went my first three years to her. I went to school in Meeker 
until 1901, then I went to work in Oldlands' store and worked 
there until January, 1904, when I was married and moved to 
Rangely. 

When I moved to Rangely I took over the management of 
a little, one-horse store called The Coltharp Brothers, owned 
by J . H. Coltharp of M2eker, and W. P. Coltharp of Vernal, 
Utah. I stayed there until the fall of 1907 when J. H. Coltharp 
and I went to Ely, Nevada, and opened a store under the 
name of J . H. Coltharp Mercantile Company. Just a short 
time later the store was sold to the American Trading Com­
pany who also had several stores in Nevada and Utah. Ma­
terial for the frame store building, which still stands in 
Rangely and is owned by J. V. and M3.rtha Coltharp, was 
hauled from Meeker by John Coltharp and myself in the 
winter of 1910. 

While we were in Nevada my wife got inflammatory 
rheumatism and we moved back to Rangely. In the next year, 
1908, I took over the store again and in 1910 I moved to 
Dragon, Utah, and worked in another of the Coltharp stores. 

I'm not sure of the year, but it was about that time that 
W. H. Coltharp had the Bank of Vernal built in memory of 

<Lillian Hurd of Denver was chosen "Queen Thali a" of the Slaves of the 
Silver Serprnt, in th e 1897 Festival of Mountain and PJqin. She was accompanied 
by a court of "forty or more charming youn~ ladies from the various counties 
of the Statc."-Tl! e Colorado Mctgazine, Vol. XXV, No. 4 (July, 1948), 155-156. 

*J. N. Neal of Meeker, Colo., and Mesa, Arizona, long has been an interested 
member of the State Historical Society. The story of his own pioneering experi­
ences in Colorado appeared in Tile Colorado Magazine, Vol. XXXIV, Ko. 2 (April. 
1957).-Editor. 

j 
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his father, W. P. Coltharp. All the bricks for this men;1.0rable 
building were shipped by parcel post from s.alt Lake City and 
arrived in Vernal in wagons pulled by six-horse teams. I 
remember W. H. Coltharp telling me later that he asked the 
postmaster if they couldn't deliver the bricks to the building 
site of the bank. The postmaster said no, the bricks had to be 
delivered at the post office and then transferred to .the 
building site. After, however, sev~ral wagon loads of bricks 
had been deposited at the post office, the p~stma~ter chan.ged 
his mind and decided it was a darn good idea if the .bricks 
were delivered to the building site. It was soon after this that 
postal regulations were changed to keep anyone else from 
shipping bricks by mail. 

In the fall of 1911, I moved back to Rangely which was 
at that time strictly a cow town. I leased the Colt~arp r~nch 
in Rangely and I worked there for eight years with a httle 
bunch of cattle. Then in the spring of 1920, Mr. J. H. Coltharp 
and I bought out the Rangely store again which was th~~ 
owned by Jim McGuire. We ran the store t?gether up. until 
1923 when I bought out his interest and smce that time I 
hav~ owned it myself. Through the years it has grown from 
a two-man business to an eight-man business. 

In the fall of 1918 I was elected County Commissioner and 
it was the next spring that Snell Johnson, a sheep.man from 
Vernal, had his camp raided, wagon and camp supplies ~urned 
and about 350 sheep killed. I was up at Meeker at the time at 
a Commissioner's meeting and I was immediately deputized 
to go out and make an investigation. This I did and I found 
an armed camp and the 350 dead sheep scattered down the 
ridge. This started everything off. A few months later .John 
Durnell was killed a few miles west of the Johnson raid by 
a group of unidentified men. Eleven cowmen and cowboys 
were arrested and taken to Grand Junction. They were tried 
before the federal court. Because of my investigation I was 
one of the witnesses at this trial. The men were convicted, 
and it was decided to appeal the case to another court but 
the transfer was never called. Some said this was to be a 
lesson to the cattlemen, and the case was left han~ing as a 
warning and also because of lack of complete evidence. It 
was discovered later that some of the eleven men who were 
accused actually did not take part in the killing but were 
suspected because they loudly proclaimed. their dislike of 
sheep and those associated in the sheep busmess. 

In 1934, my doctor advised me to get out in the ?utdoor~. 
I went into the cattle business on Douglas Creek with Cecil 
Gross. We started out with 14 head of Jersey cows. We bor­
rowed all the money we could get and went to work on 370 
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acres. Cecil did most of the work because my health was not 
good. We had to borrow so much money that we were soon 
head over heels in debt. Fortunately we had a turn for the 
better and came out on top. I am happy to say that I have 
never been bothered with low blood pressure since! 

It wasn't too many years later that Rangely became a 
boom town. Everything was suddenly changed. When I came 
to Rangely in 1904, there were a boarding house, post office, 
little old store, and a schoolhouse and that was the size of our 
town. It was strictly cattle country at that time and remained 
so until it was finally opened up for sheep in 1927. We didn't 
have any growth in the town of Rangely until the oil boom 
in about 1946. Then we had more growth than we knew what 
to do with. The people came in very fast with the oil and 
there was lots of drilling. In the fall of 1946 I was elected the 
first mayor of Rangely. We had nothing-no black top roads 
or even gravel roads, inadequate schools and worst of all­
no money with which to build. People were needing every­
thing and naturally they were demanding everything but 
there seemed to be no solution to the problem. We were too 
late to get on the tax roll in 1947. It was the spring of 1948 
before we received taxes for the town of Rangely. How we 
got along up until that time, I will always wonder. The popu­
lation boomed from about 50 persons to about 5,000. They 
all had to be taken care of, and since Rangely was incapable 
of doing so, much of the business went to Vernal, Utah. Schools 
were the outstanding demand of the new residents, very few 
of them were on the tax rolls. We had to bond the school dis­
trict for money to build school houses. 

The third year our taxes from oil production began coming 
in. It kept mounting until we were getting around 11 million 
dollars per year. Then our trouble began. The state demanded 
that all taxes from oil and gas go into the General fund. We 
contended the revenue from all natural resources be returned 
to the county in which the revenue was produced. Bills were 
introduced regularly in the state legislature for three terms. 
We defended our rights and defeated such bills each term 
and we profited by retaining the oil and gas taxes for six 
years, which meant about 60 million dollars to our county. 
The fourth time the legislature met, a bill passed conveying 
all oil and gas taxes into the General fund and then prorated 
back to counties according to population. We were the losers 
but we held on to it till we got our bonded indebtedness 
cleared. 

The population consisted of good people and bad people. 
I can remember the time when the bad people had to be hand­
cuffed to a telephone pole because Rangely had no jail. We 
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were very fortunate though that there were never any killings 
during this period. 

As was to be expected, there were many new businesses 
that came in with the oil business. There were all kinds of 
stores and although they aren't called saloons anymore, there 
were many bars with all kinds of gambling. Rangely gradually 
got the things they needed and the roads were black topped. 
Development proceeded pretty fast. Our school went from a 
one-room school house to a million dollar school building. 
Our school system is nothing short of wonderful. 

When the drilling first started there were a number of 
local companies that drilled and also a few of the big com­
panies. The Richman Company was drilling about 1920. I used 
to buy gasoline from them. The Brigman Oil Company was 
also drilling until in 1933 Jack Stewart drilled the discovery 
well for the California Company. The government made them 
open the field up in about 1945 or 1946, and the number of oil 
discoveries increased steadily until there were about 480 deep 
producing wells and Lord only knows how many shallow ones. 

The estimate is that the secondary recovery program will 
produce about the same amount of oil as was produced by 
primary methods. At Rangely it has been estimated up to 
350 million barrels of oil could be recovered by primary 
methods. Using gas injection, re-injecting natural gas into 
the earth and water flood, the additional recovery will amount 
to some 438 million barrels. This means that the Rangely 
field, with a life expectancy now of 30 to 40 more years, will 
produce some 788 million barrels of oil in its lifetime. There­
fore, we look forward to many years of profit in taxes from 
the Rangely oil field. 



22 COLORADO MAGAZINF. 

REY. H . MARTYN HART 

The out-of-doors held an inter est for the Reverend H. Martyn Hart from a 
sporting as well as a sc ientific \'i ewpoint. This portrait, made in England when 
he was a young man, s ho ws correct c lerical attire, with gaiters and a high silk 

hat, but n ote the r iding crop held in the left hand. 

Dean Hart Pre-Views His Wilderness 
Excerpts from the 1872 Diary of H. Martyn Hart 

Edited by L OUISA WARD ARPS* 

One of the most colorful and courageous characters in the history 
of Denver was an English clergyman by the name of H. Martyn Hart. 
In 1879 he came to take charge of Saint John's Church in the Wilder­
ness. This was a small Episcopal church at the corner of 14th and 
Arapahoe Streets. Within two years after his arrival, the church 
moved to St. John's Cathedral at 20th and Welton where he was 
Dean. Largely through excellent music, he managed to give the 
services the dignity and beauty of an old-world cathedral. From its 
pulpit he preached continually against the evils that flourished in 
the sprouting town of Denver in the 1880's. 

After forty years of an original and uncompromising life in 
Denver, Dean Hart lies buried outside the east wall of the present 
St. John's Cathedral at 14th and Clarkson. 

Seven years before he settled in Denver he had seen the wilder­
ness in which he was to serve. In 1872 he stopped here, quite by 
chance, on a trip around the world. Because of a health breakdown, 
he had a six-months' leave from his twin jobs at Blackheath, a pros­
perous London suburb. There he was rector of St. German's Church 
as well as headmaster of a boys' school where, "honestly teaching 
all day till five o'clock,"1 his subjects were the exciting new sciences 
of geology and chemistry. 

When the doctor ordered him to rest, the Providence in which 
Mr. Hart believed provided a passage around the world. This was in 
the person of a young man named White who had "made a wide 
excursion into the shady side of life,"2 and whose father wanted to 
ship him around the world with a de:ent companion. 

With this young man, in October, 1872, the Reverend Mr. Hart, 
aged thirty-four, leaving his wife and children in England, sailed 
for America. He saw New York, was not impressed with Beecher's 
preaching, and noted the geological aspe:ts of Niagara Falls. In 
Chicago, he watched in relentless detail the operation of a packing 
house from squealing pig to ham. He and his companion hunted 
buffalo on the prairie, came to Denver because it was where the 
train went, spent Christmas in Salt Lake and New Year's in San 
Francisco, and then sailed for the Orient in a paddle steamer with 
a walking beam. 

All this he recorded in a diary-"The Jottings of a Globe­
Trotter." The notebook now belongs to his granddaughters, Mrs. 
E. A. Meyerhofer and Mrs. James Sykes. They have given permission 
to quote that part of the diary which deals with his buffalo hunt in 
Kansas and his visit to Denver in December, 1872. 

•Louis a Ward A rps (Mrs. Elwyn A.) is a graduate of the University of 
Colorado anrl of the New York City Lirrary School. For a number of years 
she was a librarian in the Denver School s, was on the s~aff of the Western 
Bistory Department of the Dcm·er Public Library , and assi sted in cahloguing 
the V\' <stern Range Cattle Industry Study for the St ate Historical Society of 
Colorado. In accompanying her hu~bancl, Elwyn A. Arps, on m3.ny mountain 
climbing· ventures, on which they took many excellent photographs, Mrs. Arps 
intensified her interest in Colorado history. She is the author of a hookl'<t 
entitled "Chalk Creek," now a collector's Lem. Her telecasts, "Denver Yest~r­
days," which she succe£sfully pre~entecl r<cently on KRMA-TV, ChannP• 6, 
have been w·ritten into book form soon to appear under the title "Denver In 
Slices."-E<l'itor. 

1 Jn 1917 Dean Ha1·t published a small book called Recollecti.ons and Re­
flections, which supplements the diary. This quotation is from page 81. 

2 Ibid, p. 82. 
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The diary [reproduced here just as written] records that, in 
Chicago, young White evinced an interest in hunting buffalo. Mr. 
Hart, a good shot and expert fisherman, immediately found a Western 
Union Telegraph office and asked the operator to find out, by wire, 
where the buffalo herds were grazing. The answer was that a big 
herd was near Wallace, Kansas. So-

The night train carried us to Kansas City. Our Pullman 
was a very grand affair-an Harmonium with 2 rows of keys 
was built into it. 

12 years ago this city was not. Now it has 30,000.3 It is built 
on the Bluffs at the corner of the bend of the Missouri, wh. 
is a small stream that can sweep out on every side as the 
wide sand & mud flats, or east side, testify. The Bluffs are 
mud hills & it is the object of the citizens to cut them down, so 
that frequently on each side a street is a wall some 15 feet 
high. It is as tho' one walked through a Ry: -cutting. The 
causeways are wood-most dangerous structures overlaying 
chasms & great unpaved gutters. There seems to be no grass. 
There are some trees but every breath of wind raises clouds 
of dust. A most dreary place is Kansas & yet because of its 
"location" being a great centre-the Kansas Pacific bringing 
to it all the produce of the West & the fact that the surround­
ing country is very fertile-make the city most prosperous, 
& a Judge told me that in 10 years there will be 100,000.4 

Sunday Dec. 8th 2nd in Advent. 
I am making up my diary in the middle of "The American 

desert" 300 miles from everywhere. The vast Prairie rolls 
round us on every side. I never thought the land could look 
so like the sea. In many places-just now for instance-the 
horizon is absolutely level. A herd of antelope has just passed 
us, but no Buffalo have as yet put in an appearance. 

We are going at the regular 22 miles an hour, in a Pullman, 
of course, & I am writing on a table in a "drawing room car." 
Now I have often read that reading & writing were just as 
easy as in your study. Let this calligraphy be my comment 
on that reckle.ss assertion. I give it up- ... 

[Here follows two pages about the church in Kansas City.] 
We stopped at Wallace,5 an eating station in the Prairie.6 

3 Kansas City was incorporated in 1853. Official cen sus of 1870 was 32,266. 
4 In 1880 there were 55,785 persons in Kansas City. 
'Wallace is a small town east of Sharon Springs, the county seat of Wallace 

County, Kansas. This was buffalo country, being on the great circle made by 
the Arkansas herd of buffaloes. The town of Wallace started in 1870 when the 
Kansas Pacific Railroad reached it en route to Denver.-Federal Work Projects 
Administration. Kansas, a Guicle to the Sun Flower State (New York: Hastings. 
1949. ) A mile and a half from Wallace a military post had been established in 
1865. Fort Wallace was on the southern Smoky Hill trail to Denver .... Fort 
'<\'allace furnished seventy-five horses to the hunting party of Grana Duke 
Alexis of Russia in January, 1872.-Mr s. Frank C. Montgom ery, " Fort Wallace 
and its R e lation to the Frontier," in Co llections of the Kansas State Historical 
Society (Vol. 17, 1928), 189-283. 

0 Had the Englishmen come two years later, in 1874, they might have eaten 
at a forerunner of the Harvey Houses. The first two towns in which Fred 
Harvey experimented with restaurants for railroad passengers were Hugo and 
" ' allace, Kansa s.-James Marshall, Santa Fe, the Railroad that Built an 
FJmpire (New York: Ranclom House, 1945) , p. 98. 
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12 houses compose the "Town." It looked precisely as if a 
child set out on a table its toy houses. Not a tree for 100 
miles. "---" W--- inducements to plant. Yet Wallace 
is the hunters' rendezvous. Here they bring the Buffalo meat 
& send it to the packing houses in Kansas City & Chicago. 

We agreed with Jerry Gardner' for 40 dols. to take us out 
to his "camp" & bring us back on Thursday, giving us all the 
hunting possible in the time. Our provision box wh. we packed 
at Montreal-lest we should be blocked up by snows in any 
of our rail journeys,8 we took to camp. 

No more magnificent day ed. be imagined. The sun shone 
from a cloudless sky, the breeze was just sufficiently wintry 
to be "fresh"-in fact it was a July day on the Alps. Jerry 
was a hunter-that is he possessed two teams, 2 wagons, & 4 
mules. These cost £100 each. The hunters pitch a camp & hunt 
so many miles of country into wh. no other hunter trespasses. 

Jerry, I'm grieved to say, was "fresh" & as the pure air 
blew upon him he became more fresh. All these fellows are 
desperadoes. Their language I cannot but think the very devils 
must shudder to hear. Nevertheless the fellow's communica­
tions were coherent enough. He was loud-violent-agst. the 
corruptions of the government. The election was just over & 
he declared that he had r'c 'd 700 dols. for getting votes to the 
extent of 200 & he very naturally wanted to know if the 
government could do that in a bit of a place like Wallace, 
what must be the sum total of an election? No wonder poor 
Horace Greeley died! 9 

The fellows around there were no better than the govern­
ment. They had no law-but a "vigilance comm.," & when 
any horses were stolen, some one was suspected, or if there 
was a man you did not like, you named him as the thief & he 
was found next morning strung up to a telegraph post "billed" 
-by the "Vigilance Comm." Lots of men were hung on sus­
picion. 

"Swift"-you'll learn who Swift is after a while-told me 
that two hunters "just shot their man because they did not 
want to pay him-only last week!"1 0 Jerry had come there 
in consumption 3 yrs. ago & now was not only hale but made 
of iron. 

1 Jerry Gardner had "come into the depot with his 'meat,' the hams of the 
lmffalo wrapped in their skins, which he freighted to Chicago and received 
four dollars for each 'bundle.' "-Hart, op. cit., p. 90. 

8 Evidently they had heard of the snow blockade of the previous winter, 
when with five locomotives off the track near Ellis, Kansas, trains were held 
up for ten days. The towns were completely surrounded by buffalo herds, during 
the storm.-Rocky Mountain News, Dec. 3, 1871 and following days. 

• The election was that of U. S. Grant, for his second term as President, vs. 
Horace Greeley. Three weeks after his defeat, Greeley died on November 29, 1872. 

10 "Jerry Gardner's hunt outfit killed some Mexicans down on the Blue who 
were hunting buffalo, because they were hunting on horseback and would run 
the buffalo out of the country . . .. This was a cold-blooded murder on the part 
of Jerry Gardner.''-"Life of George W. Brown," Collections of the J{cinsas State 
Historical Society (Vol. 17, 1928), 125. 
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"Cemeteries! No, we've none of them there in this West, 
I guess." "Does nobody die here, then, Jerry?" "Yes, they die 
but it's always with their boots on"-i.e. hung or shot. 

In about 20 miles we came to "Ladder Creek." 
The Prairie was truly a wonderful sight, sometimes abso­

lutely level to the horizon-not the slightest rise-just as if 
the tranquil sea had been solidified. It is covered with buffalo 
grass-short, curly grass, yellow at this time of year & also 
with a tall flowering weed whose seed lobes contain a bitter 
principle wh. Jerry declared would cure ague "as sure as the 
world." Occasionally we saw herds of Buffalo grazing but we 
came near only one herd who soon jogged off, cantering 
like fat pigs. 

For many miles on each side of the railway the Prairie is 
burnt. Out in this country where the grass is so short it does 
little more than smoulder. The vast conflagrations which are 
"great views" for magic lanterns happen where the grass is 
long. 

"The camp" was a small tent pitched by the side of a 
small stream over wh. hung some conglomerate rocks, the 
escarpment rising some 100 ft. The bed of the creek was filled 
with tall bushes. 

As we approached, some 1/2 doz. dogs came out to welcome 
us. There was "The Skinner" & "Swift,'' a boy so nicknamed 
by Jerry. I doubt if he or anybody else knew his rightful 
name. "The Skinner" reminded me of a "wild man" who 
used to inhabit a cave in a wild part of Yorkshire. He had 
on a Billy-cock of a grey color tied under his chin with a 
blue scarf wh. was intended to keep his ears from the biting 
cold. No razor, nor other sharp instrument has touched either 
his hair or beard for many moons & at this time of the year 
at least, the inhabitants of a camp never touch any part of 
their persons saving their lips with water. A coat ragged & 
torn was held together by a belt in wh. was stuck one or two 
knives-the emblem & instruments of his vocation & calling. 
The skinner was a man of few words. According to Jerry he 
was the most expert of his kind in Colorado & also was par­
ticular as to the regularity of his meals. His drink was whiskey. 
He was partial to it! 

"Swift" had handsome curly hair, a pleasant face & was 
willing to do anything. In good hands he might have become 
a respectable member of society, but with Jerry that would 
be impossible. 

The mules were tied together with a long rope. The fire 
lit, an old frying pan, a battered tin pot & a camp oven were 
produced. "Swift" took a hatchet & broke the ice in the 
"creek,'' filled the pot & put it on the fire. Then he found the 
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"coffee mill"-a most primitive instrument-& filling the cup 
at the top he soon ground enough of the aromatic powder & 
poured it in the can. Some flour was now mixed with baking 
powder & etc. & the dough put into the oven. The lid was 
placed & covered with burning embers. The skinner produced 
a piece of Buffalo tenderloin & cut off the steaks into the 
frying pan. Some fat was added & the pan began to splutter 
and sizzle. In some 20 min. supper was pronounced ready! 
We sat on logs, powder boxes, anything. Swift exhibited his 
cake which was absolutely delicious. The steaks-nothing 
could be better & the coffee only wanted milk. One thing, 
however, spoiled it all. The hunters had no plates. A piece 
of hot cake served the purpose. With their knives they fished 
out of the pan bits of steak & eat them with their fingers. I 
had taken the precaution to bring two plates in our box of 
"provisions" or rather of liquor-wine-pot --water & a 
bottle of brandy. 

The sun was already beiow the cliff & we now began to 
experience the cold of a "prairie night." Out of the sun the 
thermom. must have been very many degrees below freezing. 
I put down my coffee for a moment while I eat a piece of 
steak & when I took it again it was ice! & the spoon frozen in it. 
Yet I cannot say we were cold for of course the warm couch 
of air wh. always surrounds the body effectively preserved us. 

There was little preparation for bed. A couple of blankets, 
very poor thin things were spread on the ground inside the 
tent. Another & a Buffalo skin above & my rug helped. We 
lay down in our clothes, fur cap & all. A sack of corn was our 
pillow! About 3 o'clock the intense cold awoke us, & we lay 
shivering, or rather aching, till dawn. 

The hunters generally lay out on the open! but cover 
themselves entirely over. You may see two or three heaps 
covered with a waggon cover! It looks like some merchandise. 
It lies perfectly still. At length you hear "Buddy do you want 
to turn." "If you like" is the smothered reply. The heap con­
vulses for a minute, then is merchandise again & so these 
fellows live. 

Jerry said one night when he was left alone, the team had 
gone into town with "meat" & hides, he lay down to sleep. The 
stars were sparking thro' the frosty air. When he awoke next 
morning he found himself covered with snow. The wind was 
blowing hard, he knew it would only be death to rise, so he 
lay for 3 nights and 2 days till he was covered with 4 ft. of 
snow. At the end of that time he scooped a little hole, saw the 
sun and forced his way out. To say he was hungry was to say 
little. A prairie hen sat on a tree close to him. He took his 
rifle. "Never did I feel such a lot depending on a shot but luck 
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would have it I knocked over the bird!" After great trouble 
he made a fire & put on the pot. In went the bird but he could 
not wait till it was cooked. He had torn it limb from limb & 
eaten it before the flesh was warmed through. 

After breakfast, wh. was a repetition of last night's supper, 
we set out to find Buffalo. 

But while breakfast was preparing I saw a Bull feeding 
by himself a mile away. Taking W's Spencer-who was not 
"up"-I went to stalk the game. I h8:d often h~d J er~y's in­
structions-first throw a little grass mto the air to fmd the 
direction of the wind, then creep up against the wind for if 
you are on the windward side the Buffalo :Vill scent. you 2 
miles off. "Aim sir at his foreleg, then raise gun sight 112 
way up his body. Ydu see you get 4 cha~ces:--a little too high 
you break his back, a little too low you hit his heart, too much 
on one side you go thro' his neck, too much on the other you 
are thro' his lights." With this lucid explanation fresh in my 
memory off I went. Jumping down into the creek, I follov:ed 
the frozen bed to the nearest point to the Bull. Then creepmg 
out I crawled like a penitent along the Via Dolorosa until I 
came within some 200 yds. when the Bull looked up inquir­
ingly. "Now Buffalo don't be inquisitive, j.ust go on with y01.~r 
lawful occupation-dreadfully wrong thmg to be so suspi­
cious." Being quite still, he browsed again but it was no use. 
He evidently felt uneasy so I carefully raised my rifle & fired. 
To my utmost astonishment the grea~ fello.w fell down. ·~mt 
I had heard enough stories of Buffalo s fallmg & then nsmg 
again so I hastened to get cartridge No. 2 into the barrel when 
most unfortunately the case of No. 1 stuck fast & while I was 
working with my pen knife to extract it the Bull rose up, as 
if he had only been amusing me by tumbling down & cantered 
off. Jerry said I hit him in the back & stunned him.11 

After breakfast we started. Jerry had an infant cannon & 
strapped round his waist a bel~ filled with his "c:arridges" 
copper bolts with sharp lead pomts. 50 ~f these thi~gs com­
pletely encircled his waist, looking as if so~e s:pikey dog 
collar had slipped over his shoulders & was domg its best to 
pass by his hips, for the machine -.._vrig;gled as he walked. A 
white sombrero hat surmounted his figure. Then came the 
matted hair next a tight brown shirt, then the spikey zone, 
then a new pair of greenish courderoys & finally a pair of jack 
boots into wh. the courderoys had 1/2 a mind to creep but as 
there appeared to be some hesitation on their part they re­
mained convulsed between his knee & his boot. 

11 This pre-breakfast adventure is n ot in Hart' s R eco llections and R eflections. 
Instead there Is an account (pp. 91-92) ot how Mr. Hart stalked a buffalo calf 
in the ii.rternoon, became lost, and was almost "plained." 
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. "Stop" "down" "here they come" & we were flat on the 
grass J·ust on the edge of a very gentle slope wh. formed the 

' " d side of the creek. "Who comes?" "A Bull first & 5 cows, s . 
Jerry cautiously peering thro' a tuft of grass. "They'll walk 
right on to us if we lay still" wh. I mentally determined not 
to do! 

"If a Bull's wounded, Jerry, will he likely to turn on you?" 
"Not if you don't crowd him-never crowd 'em." No, no fear 
of me.! But now I could hear our victim browsing, nay I could 
hear his very breathing & presently there loomed above me 
a vast black mass. The effect of looking up so high when 
stretched full length, & what I saw well nigh made the view 
blottesque! But a moment or two focused the monster & I 
looked upon, or thought I did, a Tertiary Mammoth. His head 
& shoulders seemed gigantic, far out of all proportion to his 
legs & hindquarters. He was browsing so that his black square 
nose, bright eyes & short curled horns seemed in the very 
position for combining to toss the two pigmies who lay in 
his path. 

To shoot at that mass of hair & horn & bone-you might 
as well have peppered a woolsack with a pea-shooter. But 
Jerry knew the instincts o! the beast & he :vas in no h.urr~; 
"Now sir, will you shoot lymg down or kneelmg o~ standmg? 
I inwardly thought I would like to shoot runnmg (away). 
Nice position for a peaceable mortal like myself to be wi~hin 
10 yards of a monster Bull behind a clump of grass. One might 
as well have hoped to have lain cached behind one's spread 
fingers, but just then Jerry moved slightly. The Bull saw him. 
The hunter's movement was so slight that the Bull ed. not 
conclude what kind of animal lay in his path or whether Jerry 
was an animal or not. As he lifted his face my fears vanished, 
for I saw a besotted inane expression wh. plainly told all 
lack of intelligence. Feeling his incapacity, he turned to con­
sult his wives. He had 5 of them. Oh! how often have better 
gentlemen than he exposed their weak plans in looking after 
ladies! Jerry's cannon roared-my rifle cracked in chorus. 
The hunter's ball cracked thro' his shoulder, mine passed 
completely thro' his hump & out on the other side. Two un­
natural bronchial appertures! What creature could exist­
the next breath & the foam was blood-two more minutes he 
had rolled on his side dead. 

Shall I ever forget that day? Not a cloud in the sky, the 
breeze just cool enough to remind you that winter had a 
domain & yet the Sun was Lord of all he surveyed & poured 
down a delicious warmth on everything on wh. he smiled. 
The boundless prairie on every side, the short crisp grass wh. 
sprang under your feet, the herds of Buffalo, everything spake 
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of Liberty & all that was within you responded to the call. 
Every muscle was unshackled, every vein was full, every 
function active to its highest power & I who wd. have thought 
a walk from to Charing X almost an im­
possibility walked that day 10 times the distance & then was 
scarcely tired. 

But as to shooting those animals, it is as much sport, that 
is there is as much excitement in it, wh. I presume is an 
essential element of "sport," as in shooting cows in a farm 
yard! The only apology for sport is in getting within range. 
The hunters do it for their living. The skinner follows his 
master. As soon as the Buffalo is shot he cuts off his head & 
commences to skin him. This occupies some 20 min. The horns 
are cut off & skin and horns are thrown into the waggon wh. 
Swift has near at hand. The rest, the carcass, is left on the 
Prairie. For this the hunter gets about 18/. Within 3 square 
miles 1300 carcasses were lying & 300 with their skins on­
Buffaloes wh. were shot on a hot day. If they are not skinned 
the same day the sun s.o dries their hide that it tears & cracks 
in all directions. 

The prairies may be boundless and the buffalo herds end­
less but the destruction wh. is now carried on by 500 hunters 
will in time make a decided impression. This the government 
perceives & a bill is now before Congress for making Buffalo 
"game." This will necessitate the hunter to use all the carcass 
& will put an embargo upon his restless waste. 

Jerry looked at the question from another point of view. 
Whenever a long line passes thro' unopened country, the 

government makes over to the Company the alternate sections 
of land wh. are contiguous to the line. These sections are some 
25 miles square. It is the evident interest of both the line & the 
Govt. to induce settlers to "take up" the lots. The Govt. will 
give a man 160 acres if he will reside on it 5 yrs. If the man 
be a soldier his 3 yrs. of service count for 3 of the 5 yrs. of 
settlement, so that he has to occupy his lot two years to make 
it his own. Now these 500 hunters have all of these lots on 
the Kansas Pacific R. & all the 500 have only a nominal resi­
dence on their "claims" thus defeating the ends of the Govern­
ment. Jerry argued the sooner the "game" was killed off the 
sooner the land would be tilled, therefore kill away. Acting 
up to this maxim, he & his partner had killed 1300 in 30 sq. 
miles in 3 months but most of the hunters had massacred far 
more. 

There is little else on the Prairie. Herds of wild horses 
are still seen but rarely. One black fellow is noted & a gentle­
man has offered 10,000 dols. to any one who will bring him 
alive. His tail & mane sweep the ground but the mustangs are 

I 
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DEAN HART A-FISHING 

At St. John's Cathedral, Denver, when Dean Hart preached his annual 
sermon on the text "I go a-fishing," his congr egation knew that the fishing 
season was about to open and that the next week their rector would be 
expertly whipping the waters of the Gunnison with a fly imported from 

Scotland. 
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so shy & keen scented that it is impossible to approach them. 
We saw many Prairie dogs-curious little fellows-bigger 

than a squirrel, of a nut brown color & a little tail of bushy 
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hair. They sat at the top of their mole-hill burrows, curiosity 
often kept them there until you were within 50 yds. when 
with a rapid somersault they disappeared. Generally they 
live in colonies but we saw no "great towns." 

Wolves abound & at night their long drawn howls echo over 
the Prairie & add much to the dismal solitude of the night. 

Coyotes (cowcotey) are a smaller variety of wolf wh. 
have a sharp querulous bark. Jerry saw 4 skulking away in 
the day but we saw none. 

We returned to Wallace on Thursday.12 On same evening 
a Pullman's car took us to 
DENVER. (Dec. 10, 1872) 1 3 

· From Kansas City the incline had been regular. We now 
were 5300 feet above the sea at the foot of the Rocky Mtns. 
The range is some 15 miles from Denver & the snowy peaks 
still farther so that the mts. have none of that imposing ap­
pearance wh. the Alps possess. Pike's Peak, Grey 's14 & Long's 
are all above 14,000 ft. yet considering that their base is al­
ready 6000 ft. high their visible height is only 5000 ft . But 
perhaps that wh. detracts more from the beauty of the ra_n~e 
is the exceeding dryness of the atmosphere. On t~e prairie, 
there was no dew-neither is there here- our lips & the 
hunters' were all sufferers, swool & chapped with the utter 
dryness of the air. The Engadine is moist in c~mparisor: to 
this region. No wonder invalids who had bronchra~ ~ffect10ns 
are resuscitated here. Jerry had come to the prairie only 3 
yrs. ago in a consumption or bad cough, weak & debilitated, 
worn to a shadow. All such symptoms had vanished & he was 
if not robust marvelously hardy. He drank hard when he could 
get it & lived out on " the open" & never "ailed a t_hing." A 
steamboat captain was at Wallace who had several times had 
haemorrhage of the lungs & to all appearances was in .a con­
sumption. The Prairie air had act~d like magic upon him. _He 
was here the other day looking like another man, & havmg 
a caravan built for Buffalo hunting. 

Denver is a city of 10,000 or 12,000-I was told 40,00015-

for all the effort here is for one "city" to outgrow another. 
They build recklessly & boast in proportion. However there 
are 47 doctors . The best of them is an English doctor who 
tells me that an invalid coming here is wonderfully restored 
except in tuberculosis disease.16 But on the other hand if a 

"" vVe asked where the train went to and they to ld us a t own called Den ver, 
so w e pu rchased ou r tickets to Denver."-Hart, op. cit., p. 92. 

" They stayed at "The Delmonico of the West," Char p iot's Hotel at 15 40 
L a rime r Str eet .-Hart, op. cit., p. 92. 

"The th r ee 14,000-foot peakR visible from Den ver a r e Pik~s. Evan s a n d 
L on gs. In ear lier days what is now named Mt. Evan s was sometimes m istaken 
for Gray's .Peak, wh ich iR not visible from the old par t of De~ver. . 

" In 1874 a cen sus of Denver showed 14,197,-W. B. V icker s, H i s tory of 
D en ver (Chicago: Baskins, 1880) p. 230. 

' " The c limate did not cure what ailed th is doctor. When, in 1879 , M r. Hart 
inquired about an English surgeon he had met in 1872, Cha rles D. Cobb , secr e­
tary of St John's-in -the-\Ylhterness wrot e on Mar ch 21, 1879, "The E n g lis h 
s urgeon d i~d. I regret to ~ay, t\\·n years ago f rom extre m e diss ipation ." 
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disease be contracted here in 3 days the patient is either well 
or dead. The doctor was noted as a surgeon-he had 19 cases 
of cuts-stabs-shots-in 10 days a couple of weeks ago but 
he has never known any flesh wound suppurate! Is it that the 
air is so pure that the spores wh. are said to produce suppura­
tion are not found in it? 

The lawlessness of Western life is proverbial. The news­
papers just now are writing on the 8:ttempt~d assassination of 
Mr. Archibald the Editor of a paper m Tnmdad. He had made 
himself obno~ious to the opposite party in the late election. 
Now fancy this occurring in England. T_he J u~ge of the . Pro­
bate Court with 6 friends assaulted him with the evident 
intention to do him grievously bodily harm or to kill him. 
They were not as successful as they could wish. The Judge 
& Co. gave themselves up for assault & by this move p:evented 
U.S.A. from taking proceedings. Fined 5 dols. The Editor goes 
for rest to the Colorado Springs & they finding a man to 
whom Mr. A. owed a small bill, they laid an "attachment" 
on the office of the paper & thus suspended the issue till 
W. A. could return & pay the bill. The other day W. A. was 
walking down the street a man Smith, with whom he had 
been on good terms hitherto, deliberately fired two barrels 
loaded with buckshot at him. No one seems to doubt the fact 
that the Judge & Co. had hired Smith to assasinate W. A. 
Altho' severely wounded, Mr. A. will probably recover. Now 
see how Mr. Smith is dealt with. At first he is taken to the 
city jail. In a few hours he is bailed out & puts up at th~ best 
hotel in the place where he lives on the fat of the land." 

Geology of the Neighborhood of Denver, F. V. Hayd~n, 
U. S. Geologist: 18 The Tertiary rocks here are covered thick 
with Superficial drift & contain coal beds wh._ are worked 
at Golden City . The Rocky Mts_. are metamorphic & . the Ter~ 
tiary beds lie horizontal to their very bases. Sometimes tho 
the upturned older rocks occur between the foot of the Mts. 
& the Tertiary beds. . . 

At a late period in Geol: history a vast quantity of igneous 
material flowed over these thick beds of Tertiary sandstones 
& all around the hills are capped with trap, sometimes 2 and 

11 M r Hart r ead in the R ock y ;lfountci in News for D ec. 17, 187 2, a le tter 
f r om Tri;.,idad, s ign ed "Quien Sabe." T he letter d iffer s from Hart's account but 
not in t h e essen tials . T he Je tte r a dds that A. W . A r chibald was a Grant-man 
a nd hi s en emies wer e ex-Rebels, a n d the r e for e Dem ocrats. Dean Hart would 
h ave been even m or e shock ed h a d he seen t he News fo r D ecember 24, 187 2, p . 4, 
in w hich Ed itor B yer s r epo r ted tha t t he ex-Rebe ls waited upon him, demanding 
t o know th e r eal name of Q uien Sabe. B yer s, with hi s _us ual braver y, _refus ed 
to t e ll but agr eed t o publish their s ide of the s t or y. This was that Smith had 
fired on Arch ibald in self-de fen se, a n d that Smith was housed in the h ot el 
Lecause It was safe r than t he ja il. 

" When fresh from the U nive r s ity of Dublin , Mr. Hart ha d written the 
geological , mine ra logical and chemical ~rt icl es fo~ Ca ssell '_s P opu lar Educator. 
H e was, the r efor e, especially inte r est ed m Hayden s geolog ical r eports on Colo­
r ado. 
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3 terraces. Then came the glacial denudation & swept over 
the whole country leaving a few hills to tell of the thickness 
of the denuded state. The trap dykes are litterally marvellous 
--vast ragged walls running at right angles from the mts. over 
the plains. 

At West Plum Creek is "Pleasant Park."19 At a distance 
it was difficult to persuade oneself that there was not a large 
town of red brick. The deception was produced by the ex­
posure of a bed of bright red sandstone wh. had been slightly 
upheaved & had fractured in lines at r ight angles to the 
strike. Here & there were high square pillars capped with 
6 or 8 ft. of white sandstone. The red rocks are "a coarse ag­
gregate of feldspar & quartz colored with Fe." All these beds 
have been formed from the materials of the mts. 

The long grassy slopes, the ridges of the escarpments, the 
trap dykes, the hills crowned with castellated rocks or long 
walls of mighty fortifications made the scene fairy-like. 

"The land wants climating," said Jerry. "Why J. you talk 
as if you had the same power of settling the weather as you 
have of the prairie." "& so we have." It is a common opinion 
with the Indians & Mexicans that the Americans bring rain. 

Hayden: "On the whole eastern flanks of the Rocky Mtns. 
the streams are gradually becoming more copious. Streams 
bearing down heavier volumes of water than formerly, others 
becoming constant runners & springs bursting out at points 
where there were none. 'Acequias' allowed to go to decay 
because they have not been needed. Even the Arkansas as 
late as '63 was dry from Pawnee to the Cimarron Crossing 
but not since." So with many thus. Altho' in so vast a country 
the population is sparse & the work of cultivation but little, 
yet here is the fact-more moisture regularly comes. 

At Wallace it was not nearly so dry, as far out in the 
Prairie. The lips of the hunters & our own were swollen & 
cracked, I suppose from the rapid evaporation, whereas the 
people of Wallace were not affected. 

The rapid changes of temperature are very un'ciccountable. 
The universal story is "you cannot forecast the weather for 
two hours." I hear on Sat. 21, Dec. the therm: was 22 below 
zero at Chicago, 36-not far from Cheyenne, whereas at 
Golden City a warm south wind blew & on Sunday morning 
it was more like a June day than anything else. 

Dec. 16th. We went to Golden City & on to Central C. the 
mining district. Golden City is in the first valley of the mts. 
some 18 miles from Denver. Like the rest of these mushroom 
cities it is built of wooden houses dotted here & there. The 
hills are capped with basalt wh. has a columnar structure. 

19 P leasant Park Is known today ( 1959) a s Perry Park, on West Plum 
Creek, west of Larkspur (Hee :>:ote 26 . ) 
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The little railway wh. is only 3 ft. gauge will take from 
Golden all its gilt & then it will drop its pretentious name & 
collapse. The only things of permanence are "Jarvis Hall'' & 
a coal mine wh. has 2 beds about 4 ft. each separated by a 
shale bed some l l/2 thick, but at present it is by no means 
vigorously worked. 

- Jarvis Hall & Wolfe Hall are two schools fostered by Bp. 
Randall of Denver where the latter institution is. Jarvis for 
boys, 400 dols. a yr. a very rough place indeed, even more 
rough than the Yeoman School at York where the charge is 
£25. Wolfe Hall is on a par.20 

I lectured at Denver & Golden, both places a failure. 21 

Central City. The railway runs up the narrowest gorges­
cafi.ons-& follows the mountain stream. 2 2 The rocks are very 
bare & metamorphic. 

The ore contains Au, Ag, Cu, & Pb, & Fe S .. 2 3 The ore is 
broken in a "stamping mill." Hg is in the trough, 60% of the 
Au amalgamates with the Hg & this amalgam sticks to Cu 

"'V.' olfe Hall was openei! in 1868 at 17th and Ch~mpa, the site of the 
present Boston Buililin~. It lRter mo,·ed to 14th an<l Clarkson , wher e Morey 
Junior High School stands <1959), across from the present St. John's Cathe'lral. 

Jarvis Hall opene<l in Golden in 1870 and burned in 1878 . It was later built 
on the Cathedral Close, at 20th and Welton, and then moved to Montclair where 
!t again burner1. In Golrlen in 1872 "the school was compri sed of three builiings 
... facing north toward Golden . . .. The School of Mines was the first building 
... had earth floors, on the ground floor .... The second buiMin~ was two 
stories high, oblon~. wi<.h a mans'lrd root This was the dormitory. A long hall 
extended the length of the buil<11ng with partitions forming box-stalls like a 
statle, all along either side. A blue cotton curtain hung in front of each of 
these sleeping rooms. Thet·e was no heat except what was obtained from two 
chimneys on each end of the hall. .. . This building was called Jarvis Hall. 

"The third building was the Divinity School, known as Matthews Hall .... " 
As told by vVilliam RussEll Collins, "Recollections of Pionrer Life in Colora<lo" 
2'he Colorado ,'VJagadne, \ol. XvIII, No. 6 (November, 1941), 224. The bui Jc'ings 
stood on the site of the present State Industrial School for Boys, south of Golden. 

21 It was typical of Dean Hart that he was not on ly outspoken in his 
criticism of the two schools but also tried to help them. His two lectures were 
given for the benefit of the schools. 'J he one in Denver was held at the Denver 
Theater on Ft I lay evening, December 20, 1872, admission 50c; the one In 
Golden, at Jefferson Hall the next night, admisoion 25c. The subject was 
"Life in the Sea." Mr. Hart had translated a book by Monquin Tarn'on called 
Monde de la Mer. Someone saw a copy of the translation in Chain & Harny·s 
book>tore on Larimer Street and in this way Denver found out about Mr. Hart's 
scientific interests.-Hart, op. cit., p. 93. 

The reYiew of the lecture in the Rocky Mountain News, Dec. 21, 1872, p. 4, 
col. 3, was headed "ln The Depths." and said that "the audi~nce though small 
was very appreciative and had the weather not been so intensely cold, it is 
probable that the house would have been densely filled. At the outset the 
speaker stated he did not suppose that his audience wou ld be able to retain 
much of what he said as the knowledge he possessed which enabled him to 
treat of the subjects had cost him many years of hard labor but he felt that 
his words would awaken an interest in the subject which had hitherto been 
neg!ecte;d or Yery lightly passed over . . . " and he hoped the audience would 
read books. By drawing diagrams on a blackboar<l, in one hour, he explained 
everything from the influence of the moon on tides to how the microscope 
reveaied what made the Red Sea red. 

"Persons interested in the history of Colorado railroads will find it hard 
to forgive Dean Hart for not telling about the brand-new Colorado Central on 
which he rode to Gilpin County. Just four days before he made his trip the 
road had been opened to passengers from Golden to the end-of-track. And 011. 
Sunday, December 14, two days before his trip, it steamed into Fitz John 
l'orter ·s huge stone station in Black Hawk. 

'"As H. Martyn Hart must have explained in his book on e lementary 
chemistry: Au-gold; Ag-silver; Cu-copper; Pb-lead; Fe S-Iron sulphide; 
Hg-Mercury. 
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plates previously amalgamated. From these every 3 days it 
is scraped, the mercury driven off in a crucible & condensed, 
the golq thus secured. The pounded ore wh. contains 40% of 
the gold is called "Tailings!" Is sold for 5 dols. a ton to "Hill's 
Smelting Works." Here the Cu is calcined & worked with as 
usual until the "copper mat" is produced. This is sent to 
Swansea [Wales J where the Au and Cu are reduced. ~n 
English engineer2

• told me that the country wd. never " look 
up" until they erected works where the Pb could be extracted. 
This would save the Ag & the Pb would pay the expenses of 
the working. 

For an account of this country, see Harper's Dec. 25 

Our excursion to Perry's Ranch. 
Denver is not hospitable! Mr. P erry, altho' we had ridden 

8 miles from Larkspur, asked us if we had blankets to sleep 
out! !!:rn 

I preached 4 times in Denver, never to large congregations 
& I must bear them witness not even my own congregation 
was more attentive, which is saying a great deal. 

* * * Here ends the Colorado portion of the 1872 diary. That the 
Denver congregation (the church held 300) was especially attentive 
may have been due to the fact that it was looking for a clergyman 
to head its church. Mr. Hart must have known this, for on December 
20, 1872, St. John's held a special intercessary service to the end 
"that the Lord of the Harvest will be pleased to send forth laborers 
into His Harvest."2• 

After Bishop Randall's death in 1873, Saint John's Church in the 
Wilderness asked Mr. Hart to come to Denver; and again, in 1879. 
This time he accepted, bringing his wife and six children. "The 
coming of Dean Hart was an event for the Diocese, for Denver and 
for Colorado. He was a great Churchman, as great as Colorado has 
ever known. For forty years as Dean of St. John's his commanding 
figure held attention for originality, independence and courage. 
Strong friendships and strong enmities were his lot. To the last he 
remained an Englishman. His home was an English home, his Cathe­
dral an English Cathedral." 2s 

And all this set down on the plains, "in the wilderness,"_ six 
hundred miles from the nearest big city! 

"One wonders if the "English E ngineer" might have been the brilliant Dr. 
Richard Pearce, "who came to America as a metallurgist for the Boston and 
Colorado Smelting Company, in 1872, and brought a group of men who had 
worked with him in Swansea and In Cornwall. It was largely upon the suggestion 
of Dr. Pearce that the German process being used in Swansea for the separation 
of the s ilver from the matte, was put into effect in Black Hawk."-See 
"Nathaniel P. Hill Takes Ore to Swansea, Wales," The Colorado .i\Iagazine, 
\' ol. XXXIV, No. 3 (July, 1957), footnote, p. 200. 

" Verplanck Colvin, "The Dome of the Continent," Harper's New Monthly 
(December, 1872) , pp. 20-37. 

"John D. Perry of St. L ou is, prestclent of the Kansas Pacific Haitroad, hacl 
built an eight-room house on his ranch at Pleasant Park in the early 1870's. 
V\'hen Isabella Bird knocked on the door on a snowy October night in 1873, she 
was welcomed by Mr. Perry's charming daughter and waited on by five Negro 
servants. "It was so odd and novel to have a beautiful bedroom, hot water, and 
other luxuries," she wrote, in A Lc1dy's Life in the Rocky llfountains (London : 
Murray, 1910) , p. 164. The Me""rs. Hart and White were evidently not so 
warmly welcomed when they got off the Denver & Rio Grande at Larkspur and 
rode horseback to Perry Park to view the red rocks. 

27 Rocky Mountain News, I>ec. 20, 1872. 
""Edward Ring, "The Epl"<'opal Diocese of Colorado," The Colorado Maga­

zine, Vol. XIV, No. 4 (July 1936). 126. 



Origins of the Royal Gorge Railroad War 
By ROBERT G. ATHEARN* 

In the bonanza years of western railroad building the rush 
to transportation riches was so rapid and was played for such 
high stakes that contests over lucrative trade sources were 
inevitable. One of the most bitterly fought of these "railroad 
wars" took place in Colorado between the narrow gauge 
Denver and Rio Grande, a North-South line running along 
the mountain base, and the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe 
whose southwesterly course brought it into collision with the 
local road. The Rio Grande, headed by General William 
Jackson Palmer, was built with the idea of at once tapping 
the mountain resources and trading with any major trans­
continental line that should bisect it. The approach of the 
Atchison Road, as it was then generally known, caused the 
Rio Grande managers no real concern, for they felt that it 
would complement, rather than oppose them. To their dismay 
the newcomer turned out to be a traffic raider more than a 
feeder. And then, early in 1878, the Atchison company, in­
spired by the aggressiveness of its new General Manager, 
William B. Strong, abandoned the guise of friendship, and 
made clear its intention to invade Rio Grande country. With 
no hesitation Palmer took up the challenge and the war 
was on. 

As late as 1877 Palmer and his associates seemed con­
vinced that their railroad had such a grasp upon southern 
Colorado and the New Mexican trade that successful compe­
tition was unlikely. The San Luis Valley was theirs by virtue 
of an extension across La Veta pass to Fort Garland, and in 
early 1878 construction toward Alamosa was under way. 
Santa Fe merchants watched with mounting interest as two 
narrow gauge tendrils reached out like forceps from the 
North to catch their trade. The nearest, that which now 
approached Alamosa, would swing down along the Rio Grande 
River, while a second, poking its way southward from El 
Moro toward Raton Pass, promised to cut through north­
eastern New Mexico along the old Santa Fe trail route. To a 
casual observer the road that the Railroad Gazette called 
the "longest narrow gauge in the world"-302 miles of it­
appeared to be in command. Actually, the Colorado company 

*For a background history of the early Denver and Rio Grande Railway 
see Robert G. Athearn, "The Denver and Rio Grande Railway: Colorado's 'Baby 
Hoad,' ·• The Colorado Magazine, Vol. XXXV, No. 1 (January, 1958) and its 
companion piece, "The Denver and Rio Grande and the Panic of 1873." The 
Colorado Magazine, Vol. XXXV, No. 2 (Apri l, 1958). Dr. Athearn, Professor 
of History, U niversity of Colorado, is the author of the following books: William 
Tecumseh Sherman and the Settlement of the West , Westwcird the Briton; 
a nd numerous historical articles. He is a member of the Executive Committee 
ot the Mississippi Valley Historical Associat!on.-Editor. 
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was in serious trouble. It had reached the limit of its financial 
abilities and was unable to lay practical claim to the numerous 
extensions it wanted and needed to build. It was unable to 
conduct a two-front war, should the need arise, and when it 
headed west, to capture the San Juan trade of southwestern 
Colorado, so necessary to its existence, the Rato~ route had 
to be set aside for future development. So far as its plans for 
reaching Santa Fe at an early date were concerned, that delay 
proved fatal. 

While the Rio Grande floundered, straining every resource 
to capture as much territory as it could under the circu.m­
stances officials of the Atchison road hovered about hke 
vultur~s, waiting for a chance to sw~op down. upon its we~k­
ened rival. Palmer, an expert at playmg for high stake.s,. tried 
to give the impression that he was dealing from a .position of 
strength and was an equal in the game of grab. His real, and 
only advantage arose from the fact that he held a temporary 
bala~ce of power between the great Union P~cific-Ka:r:isas 
Pacific combine on one hand, and the on-commg Atchison 
road on the other, each of whom sought control of northern 
Colorado traffic. Referring to the A. T. & S. F., Palmer told 
David Dodge, "I think it just as well they should understa_nd 
that we are the only parties now who they can trust to m­
crease their Colorado traffic .... " His attitude toward Thomas 
Nickerson President of the Atchison company, was friendly, 
but crisp ~nd independent. He discussed freely the possi~ility 
of pooling efforts on the part of the larger roads and declmed, 
before he was invited to join any such arrangement. Care­
fully Palmer tried to 'keep aloof from the pe_nding collisi?n 
of the larger roads, trying not to offend ~ickerson while 
avoiding any corporate intimacies. He told his general man­
ager, Dodge, that the best course to purs~e was to ~eep the 
Atchison people, the only ones who were likely to bmld com­
petitively, "comparatively satisfied while our plans are so 
inchoate."1 

During September 1877, he took his young ch~ef engineer, 
John A. McMurtrie, and one of the company directors, Dr. 
William A. Bell, on an eight-day tour of inspection up the 
Arkansas and into South Park. They visited the area which 
later became Leadville. There Palmer talked with mining men. 
The Doctor bought a clump of dates at a little grocery store 
operated by the then unknown and unheralded H. A. W: Tabor. 
Palmer returned, quite enthusiastic about transportat10n pos­
sibilities, and determined to build into the boom town as soon 

1 Palmer to Dodge, Au~ust 20, 1877, enclosing copy of letter from Palmer 
to Nickerson same date Palmer to Dodge, August 21, 1877. Denver and Rio 
Grande Archives, Dlvlslo..; of Rtate Archives, State Historical Society of Colorado, 
Denver. 
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as possible. He wrote an extremely long letter to his Treasurer, 
Charles B. Lamborn, in which he fully described the freight 
potential of the area. In addition to the new traffic offered, 
he pointed out that his company was threatened in this part 
of Colorado by the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe to the 
south and by the Denver, South Park and Pacific to the north. 
"One line built up the Arkansas Valley should keep both off 
most effectually," he wrote. For less than a million dollars 
Palmer thought he could build the necessary extension which 
would thus drive off his enemies, gain new revenue for the 
Rio Grande and put the terminus of the new branch within 
350 or 400 miles of Salt Lake City, a further extension that 
he estimated would cost about $3,000,000.2 

Toward the end of 1877 relations between the Rio Grande 
and the A. T. & S. F. became somewhat strained as representa­
tives of the latter road began to complain over the treatment 
they received at the hands of the narrow gauge company. 
When Nickerson himself wrote of the matter to Palmer, the 
General was forthright in his answer. He said it was his 
understanding that the A. T. & S. F. was about to appoint a 
new general manager and he hoped that when this was ac­
complished "Such a manager might conclude to offer his only 
western connection the same price for all trade that it would 
obtain anywhere else, instead of relying upon treaties with 
competitors which they are sure to be broken in time .... " 
He pointed out that the Atchison company was carrying a 
very large traffic over Rio Grande tracks but was reciprocat­
ing to a very small degree. So far as any charge of favoritism 
was concerned, Palmer pointed out to Nickerson that "You 
have a pooling contract with the KP. under which you are 
acting. We have to act very discreetly, surrounded by two 
such powerful allies & rivals. Although we gather up & dis­
tribute so large a traffic, our share of the results is compara­
tively small." 3 

The Atchison's new manager was William B. Strong, a 
forty-two year old railroader of some twenty years experi­
ence, whose rapid rise in the A. T. & S. F. organization wo:µld 
soon see him in the president's chair. The selection of a man 
with such an aggressive nature and one of so many ambitions 
promised early action on the Colorado railroad scene. Shortly 
after his appointment Strong came to Palmer, at Colorado 
Springs, and in a disarming fashion blandly stated that the 

2 Palmer to Thomas Nickerson, October 10, 1877. Denver and Rio Grande 
Archives, Division of State Archives, State Historical Society of Colorado, 
Denver. 

'v\T. J. Palmer to Charles Lamborn, September 15. 1877, In Carlyle C. Davis, 
Olden Times in Colorado (Los Angeles, 1916), pp. 85-99; "Leadville and Oro," 
a confidential pamphlet (New York, 1878), pp. 6-19, Denver and Rio Grande 
Archives, Dlvl:!llon of State Archives, State Historical Society of Colorado, 
Denver. 
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Atchison company desired only to connect with the Southern 
Pacific and even that hope was faint, for the present, because 
of the enormous amount of money involved. The new manager 
then proposed that the Rio Grande and his line enter into 
some profitable, non-competitive arrangement. He suggested 
consolidation, or if that was not agreeable, the leasing of the 
Denver and Rio Grande by the Atchison company. Other 
alternatives included sufficient stock purchase to assure con­
trol, or at least an arrangement for exclusive trade with the 
narrow gauge. Loftily Palmer demurred, saying that the 
fourth idea was the only one his road would consider and not 
even that, for the moment. He seemed to feel that he was in 
no danger from invasion. "I think Strong appreciates what 
I told him as to their losing more than they would gain by 
building to any one of our districts," he confided to D. C. 
Dodge. 

The conversation then drifted to the threat posed by John 
Evans' South Park and Pacific as it moved steadily toward 
the lucrative trade of that booming mineral center soon to be 
named Leadville. The men agreed to refuse any of the South 
Park's freight and to join in controlling the stripling company 
if it should become dangerous to them. Palmer volunteered 
the solution. "I remarked the surest & best way of controlling 
that trade is for us to join in building up to South Arks or 
Oro [Leadville]," he told Dodge. "Each to put up % of the 
money. He was much interested in this." 

Strong agreed to recommend the joint effort up the 
Arkansas Valley to Leadville, but Palmer, after himself mak­
ing the suggestion, began to entertain doubts. He was afraid 
that such a branch might interfere with the Lake City and 
Gunnison trade. This line of thinking took him to the notion 
of leasing all Denver and Rio Grande extensions at thirty per 
cent of the gross earnings. This way no single part of the 
road would be hurt by the partnership. He knew also that he 
was running a risk by such a venture. "Even joining on one 
short Extension would antagonize of course U. P . and K. P. & 
lose perhaps more than we would gain," he admitted. But if 
the Atchison people would put up $1,250,000 to help build 
the extensions, the risk of generating antagonism from Jay 
Gould's interests was worth while. The upshot of the con­
versation with Strong was a series of instructions from 
Palmer to David Dodge to continue negotiations and wait for 
the Atchison company to make concrete proposals. "Keep this 
carefully & confidential or destroy it," he warned his general 
manager.4 

While Palmer waited for a definite offer from Strong, he 
continued to investigate the possibilities of that new and 
interesting place, Leadville. Now, early in 1878, he pursued 
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his interest in the Leadville region. David Dodge, Robert F. 
Weitbrec, the new Treasurer, and Charles B. Lamborn, Vice 
President, were asked to make further studies of the prospects 
for a move in that direction. Toward the end of March, Dodge 
brought in some startling news. Mr. E. Harrison, a mine 
owner at Leadville, who was then in a position to ship twenty­
five tons of ore daily, was on his way East on the invitation 
of Strong. "They are determined to get his shipments of ore 
if possible," Dodge warned. "Mr. Strong is getting all the 
information he can with regard to that section, and, I believe, 
intends to make a move in that direction." And, added Dodge, 
the game was getting interesting, for Harrison had told him 
that if a railroad came into Leadville, the ore traffic out of 
that place would amount to at least seventy-five tons a day. 
Harrison himself would promise at least fifty tons a day at a 
rate not to exceed $10 a ton. "His business alone would almost 
pay to build the road," Dodge concluded.5 

Both Weitbrec and Lamborn were enthusiastic about Lead­
ville's freight potential. Weitbrec wrote that the Harrison 
Reduction Works would make a contract to move as much as 
24,000 tons of ore a year from Leadville to Colorado Springs 
if rail service was available. This, he said, would exceed the 
New Mexico and San Juan trade combined.6 Lamborn re­
ported that the Harrison people planned to ship around 
100,000 pounds of ore a day during the coming summer, by 
freight wagon, and they expected to pay eighteen dollars a 
ton to Colorado Springs and Canon City. 7 These were figures 
that would excite any railroad entrepreneur and it was just 
the kind of traffic for which the Rio Grande had been con­
ceived. 

While Rio Grande officers contemplated the future of the 
Leadville branch trade, and watched their main line lying 
south of that country move westward from Fort Garland 
toward Alamosa from which point it was within striking 
distance of Santa Fe, there was cause for concern from another 
direction. On February 26, 1878, President Thomas Nickerson, 
of the A. T. & S. F., authorized William Strong to go ahead 
with construction toward Santa Fe. Strong at once directed 
his chief engineer, A. A. Robinson, to get hold of some men 
and lay claim to the vital Raton Pass. Robinson promptly 
boarded a Rio Grande train at Pueblo and headed for El Moro 
where, late at night, he got a horse and pushed on to the 

• Palmer's conversation with Strong is found in a lon g Jetter marked 
"Private," and dated February 1, 1878. Denver and R io Grande A r chives, File 
No. 343, Division of State Archives, State Historical Society of Colorado, Denver. 

• D. C. Dodge to W. J. Palmer, March 23, 1878. In " Leadville and Oro." 
Denver and Rio Grande Archives, Division of State Archives, State Historical 
Society of Colorado, Denver. 

• R. F. Weitbrec, to W. J. Palmer, March 28, 1878. Ibid. 
1 Charles B. Lamborn to W. J . Palmer, April 1, 1878. Ib id. 
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home of "Uncle Dick" Wootton near the Pass. John A. McMur­
trie Chief Engineer for the Rio Grande, was on the same 
trai~ and carried the same instructions, but unlike Robinson, 
he st~yed over night at El Moro, unaware of the urgency of 
the situation. When McMurtrie and his men arrived at the 
scene of his proposed endeavors, on the morning of February 
28, he was greeted by Robinson and a group of transients 
pressed into service, all busily engaged in what they said was 
railroad building. The little "armies" of Robinson and Mc­
Murtrie, about equal in strength, eyed each other for a while 
and after some exchange of threats the Rio Grande men 
moved and began to work on an alternative, but much less 
desirable crossing, at Chicken Creek. McMurtrie had lost the 
game by about thirty minutes. To clinch its title to the ground 
the Atchison company asked for and received an injunction 
prohibiting its rival from interfering with construction.8 

Although Denver papers fretted over the possibility that 
both the A. T. & S. F. and the Rio Grande would build into 
Leadville, thus giving Pueblo, not Denver, all that trade, 
there did not seem to be any widespread belief that the 
Atchison people were so inclined, especially now that they 
had made their move at Raton Pass. A Pueblo paper stated 
positively that their proposed line up the Arkansas had been 
abandoned in favor of continuing the transcontinental line 
southwestward.9 Outwardly there seemed to be no emergency 
over the route to Leadville, so far as Palmer was concerned. 
The Chicago Railway Review said that the Rio Grande would 
complete that branch sooner or later, and certainly not before 
the mines were more fully developed than at present. 10 

Palmer may have agreed with a Denver paper that the 
Atchison people were taking advantage of cheap M2xican 
labor "to play a game of bluff" at Raton, but his chief engineer, 
McMurtrie, did not believe it. He strongly advised the Rio 
Grande President either to build across Raton at once, or to 
head south from Alamosa toward New Mexico with all speed. 

•The story of the Eeizln.; of Raton Pa' s and the subsequent ronfllct near 
Canon City has been told in a number of works. For further details see: L. L. 
Waters. Steel Trails to Santa Fe CLawrE-nce, Kans'<s, 1950), Georo:-e D. Bra<lley, 
The Story of the Santa Fe (Bo~ton, 1920). or Georo:-e L. An<"er•on, General 
·wwiam J. Palmer: A Decade of Railr1;ad Building, 1870-188~ (Colorarlo_ Sprln~s. 
1936) .. James MarEhall's Sctnta Fe: The Railroad That Bmlt an Emp-ire (New 
York, 1945) Is a popularlzeil i'ramatlzation. Cy Warman, in his The Story of 
the Rnill·oad (New York, 1906) , devotes a chapter to th". Royal Gorge War. 
l'npubllshed sources include: Owen Meredith Wll,on, A History of the Denver 
and Rio Grande Prnject J R7Q-190 I (a doctoral dissertation, UniverElty of Cali­
fornia, 1942), Samuel bonalil Mock, Uailroad Development in the Colorado 
Region to 1880 (a doctoral i'lssertatlon, University of Nebraska, 1938)! and 
Paul Stewart Logan, T11e History of the Denver and Rio Grande Rai.lway, 
1871-1881 Ca master's the~ls, Unl,erslty of Colorado, 1931). See aim the Railroad 
Gazette, April 26, 1878; The Colorado Chieftain (Pueblo), February 28, March 
7, 1878; The Weekly Gazette (Colorado Springs), May 5, 1878. 

•The Colorado Chieftain (Pueblo), March 7, 1878. 
10 The Chicago Railt,.all R eview, quoted In the Denver Daily Times, March 

16, 1878. 
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He was convinced that the A. T. & S. F. would be across Raton 
Pass and down to Las Vegas within twelve months.11 That 
the Rio Grande was taking no chances on the possibility of 
a bluff is seen in articles of incorporation that were filed in 
Denver for the Colorado and New Mexico Railway Company, 
whose object it was to operate a r~ilroad between El ~oro 
and the New Mexican line where it would connect with .a 
road to be built across Raton Pass by the Denver aD:d R10 
Grande. Among the incorporators were Robert F. Weitbrec, 
Hanson Risley (General Solicitor of the Rio. Grar;de's La;rid 
Department), and William W. Borst, the railroads s.uperm­
tendent.12 This move, on Palmer's part, came to nothmg, for 
within three weeks he concluded to call off the game and 
concentrate his efforts elsewhere. 

The decision to abandon Raton Pass stemmed from a 
realization on Palmer's part that he could not finance a t~a~fic 
war with his larger foe and from the hope that negotiat10n 
could be substituted for fighting. There was no sen~e, as 
McMurtrie later put it, of pursuing a "cutthroat policy of 
building two roads into the same country when there was 
hardly business enough to support one."1 3 Another reason for 
pulling back was the mountmg fear that ~h~ A. T. & S. F. 
might strike at the Leadville trade by bmld1~g. up the A~­
kansas, past Canon City. The directness. of Wilham Strongs 
methods was beginning to cause worry m the Palmer camp. 
On April 14 Weitbrec requested McMurtrie join him for a 
trip into that part of the coun~ry, b.ut t~e eng~nee;, did not 
want to go. "I will try to avoid gomg if possible, he told 
Palmer "as all my movements are watched, and should I go 
I am af~aid Atchison will know of it and take it that we mean 
to move in that direction and to stop us, jump into the Canon 
and commence work at once. If there could be a small pool 
raised at once, say $50,000, we could then jump into th~ canon 
and I think hold it, although if they were to come m they 
could trouble us."14 

McMurtrie's fears were not long in being realized. Two 
days later, as he began to withdr~w his men from their labors 
along Chicken Creek, A. A. Robmson .telegraphed to Strong 
that this was more than a mere cessat10n of work. Strong at 
once replied, telling his engineer to "see ~o it t.hat we do not 
'get left' in occupying the Grand Canyon. Robmson respond-

11 McMurtrie to Palmer, April 14, 1878. McMurtrie Letter Bo<_Jk, Denv.er and 
Rio Grande Archives, Division of State Archives, State Historical Society of 
Colorado, Denver. 

"The road was incorporated March 25, 1878. Denver Daily Times, March 
26, 18 78. d 

13 McMurtrie to Palmer, April 1, 1881. McMurtrie Letter. Bo~k, Denver an 
Rio Grande Archives, Division of State Archives, State Historical Society of 
Colorado, Denver. 

,. McMurtrle to Palmer, April 14. 1878. Ibid. 
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ed by selecting his assistant engineer, W. R. Morley, "as the 
man most likely not 'to get left' to go to Canon City and look 
out for the A. T . & S. F. interests."15 It was a logical choice, 
for Morley had accompanied H. R. Holbrook, of the A. T. & 
S. F., a year earlier when the men made a survey through 
the Royal Gorge, and beyond.16 He knew the terrain well. 

Morley managed to get to Pueblo on a special A. T. & S. F . 
engine but when he tried to charter one from the Rio Grande, 
to complete the trip to Canon City, he was refused. George 
S. Van Law, an Atchison company employee, later related: 
"We reached Pueblo and boarded the train for Canon City. It 
wouldn't go. We stayed until the middle of the afternoon and 
still the conductor held the train. Then wagons were secured 
to take our party to Canon City. As soon as we were away 
from the railroad platform the train pulled out."11 Morley 
did not wait for his men. He hired a horse and made a trip 
to Canon City that the Pueblo paper compared to Phil Sheri­
dan's famous Winchester ride. After a frantic dash through 
the night, one that killed the animal, he arrived at his destina­
tion and commenced to organize a crew with the help of 
officials from the Canon City and San Juan Railway. This 
little line, shortly revealed as a subsidiary of the A. T. & S. F., 
had been organized in 1877, presumably at the behest of Canon 
City residents who not only hated the Rio Grande for its 
highhandedness in the past, but who also thought the parent 
road would push rails into Leadville and give the village at 
the mouth of the Royal Gorge a place in the transportation 
world. On the morning of April 19, Morley and a host of 
enthusiastic volunteers from Canon City, approached the 
canyon's entrance and commenced grading operations. 

This time the Rio Grande men were on hand, with a well­
equipped crew of engineers and workmen. McMurtrie was 
there, along with his assistant, J. R. DeRemer, and two 
members of the contracting firm of Carlile, Orman and Crook, 
an organization that already held a contract to build the road 
from Alamosa to Santa Fe. A newspaper reporter described 
the excitement, telling how "McMurtrie and his forces made 
a rapid march from the depot through the city, chaining the 
ground from the end of the narrow gauge track to the canyon. 
But by the time his forces arrived on the ground, Morley's 
party had graded at least one hundred feet of the road." The 
Colorado Chieftain, of Pueblo, was delighted to think that 

"Waters, Steel Trails to Santa Fe, p. 106. 
16 The term "Royal Gorge" Is uRually thought of as being relatively modern, 

and it Is true that it was not generally used at the time of the "War," but the 
United States Supreme Court used it in the case of The Denver and Rio Grande 
Hallway Company vs. C. T. Alling, &c. in its October Term, 1878. 

11 George S . Yan Law "Four Years on Santa Fe Railroad Surveys." A typed 
manuscript, written in 1931, Item 340 of Denver and Ri& Grande Archives, 
Division of State Archi\' eg, State H is torlcal Society of Colorado, Denver. 
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ONE OF THE FORTIFlCATIOKS T:-.' ROYAL GORGE "\\'AR" 

the Rio Grande had been again outfoxed and it triumphantly 
titled its story of the contest, "Catching Weasels Asleep, Or 
How Morley Outflanked McMurtrie." 18 Actually the working 
parties of both railroads were in the canon about the same 
time, at different locations, and while accounts of the affair 
vary in detail, there is no evidence to show that either group 
could lay claim to prior occupancy. Both did, of course, and 
both had their day in court, for the United States Circuit Court 
for the District of Colorado was to decide in favor of the 
Canon City and San Juan while the United States Supreme 
Court would state that the Rio Grande was there first. 19 
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None of the Rio Grande officials ever entertained any 
doubts that their right to the Arkansas Valley route to Lead­
ville was entirely valid. Palmer had included it in his original 
certification of incorporation of the railroad; he had ordered 
it surveyed in 1871 and 1872; again, in 1873, along with Alex­
ander Hunt, he conducted further surveys in the direction 
of what was yet known as California Gulch; he had built into 
Canon City in 1875, showing what he regarded as intent to 
proceed farther westward. The important thing he neglected 
to do was to file a plat of the projected line with the General 
Land Office, in accordance with the act of Congress dated 
March 3, 1875. 20 

Meanwhile, in 1877, the Atchison company quietly had 
ordered Holbrook to make the already mentioned survey for 
the dummy Canon City and San Juan company, following 
along the line of stakes McMurtrie had set out for Palmer in 
1871. M:::Murtrie later complained that so scrupulously had 
Holbrook's party adhered to the earlier line that it had "in 
a number of places ... taken up my stakes, cut my numbers 
off and put theirs on."21 Strong, of the A. T. & S. F., apparently 
felt that since Palmer had not fully complied with the letter 
of the law, the route was fair game and he was not going to 
overlook any opportunities to gain traffic for his company. 
He would have agreed with one of his employees, who later 
wrote, "The Denver and Rio Grande scouting engineers put 
lines of stakes to every part of this mountain region where 
business was likely to develop. That cocky and resolute-but 
none too rich-railroad company claimed this territory as its 
own. It believed in a future life and believed in setting its 
stakes in the beyond and doing it first." 22 The A. T. & S. F., 
bound for the West Coast, and itself in financial difficulty 

18 Colorado Chieftciin (Pueblo), April 20, 1878. The paper was violently 
opposed to the Tiio Grande and all i, s s'.ories on the railroad contest were 
heavily slanted in favor of the Santa Fe. Correspondent B. E. Rockafellow of 
the Chieftain, who was a resLlent of Canon City, and one of the organizers of 
the C. C. and S. J. railroad later said that he wrote the colorful articlEs "just 
to tickle the fancy of the puLJic." (The Weekly Gazette, of Colorado Springs, 
.Tuly 27, 1878.) Denvu papers took a much less emotional approach and gave 
the matter less space. 

'"'l he Denver and Rio Grande Railway Company YS. C. T. Allings, &c., and 
the Denver and Rio Grande Railway Company 1 s. the Canon City and San 
Juan Railway Company. Cases 811 and 812, October Term, l!nited States 
Supreme Court, 18i8. ltEm 405 of Denver and Rio Grande Archives, Division of 
State Archives, State Historical Society of Colorado, Denver. 

' 0 The law of 1872 did not require the filing of a plat, but the amendment 
of March 3, 1875, which denied any sin'(le company the right solely to occupy 
the right of way through a canyon or defile, also specified that any road wishing 
to secure the benefits of the amenclecl law had to file with the register of the 
land office a profile of the road within twelve months of the location of the 
route. The core of this law can be found in the Congressional Record, Volume 3, 
Part I, January 12, 1875, p. 404, at which time the propos1l was being debated. 
The Rio Grande maintained that its rights dated from 1872. 

"Letter from McMurtrie to Robert Weitbrec, April 22, 1878. In Robert F. 
Weltbrec Papers, Notebook 4 (1878), Library, s,ate Historical Society of 
Colorado, Denver. 

"George S. \an Law, op. cit. 
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CAMP OF "Al';.MED FOHCES" IN ROYAL GORGE 

from time to time, refused to recognize the little upstart 
narrow gauge whose engineers were so free with their survey 
stakes. In a game as big as that of transcontinental railroad 
building the promise of rich trade from fabulous Leadville 
was too great to ignore, and any barrier to the prize had to be 
ridden over, roughshod. 

The fiction that the Canon City and San Juan Railway 
was independent and of local origin was short-lived. By the 
time the A. T. & S. F. made ready to invade Leadville it 
became abundantly clear who owned the little road with a 
big name. As late as April 10, 1878, when that company's 
board of directors met, there was no provision for any con-
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struction. It was not until Morley, a virtual stranger, turned 
up in a state of excited determination that the Canon City 
company had any inkling of an immediate building prospect, 
and it was this newcomer who took charge of the impromptu 
crew, swept up from the town's streets, that was to do the 
work. The president of the small road probably was less 
acquainted with the situation than even Morley, for he did 
not know how many directors his company had, where his 
funds came from, or who were the bidders for construction. 
Several of the road's board members later testified that they 
held stock, for which they had paid no cash, but other than 
that they had only the vaguest notion of the corporation's 
workings or history. For any information the directors and 
the president had to look to Strong who was elected to the 
board on April 10, or to Robinson, who had no connection at 
all until the day the work commenced. 2 3 By the morning of 
April 19 no one in Colorado had any doubts about the parent­
age of the Canon City and San Juan. 

During the first few days of the "railroad war" the greatest 
excitement prevailed in and around Canon City. According 
to newspaper reports from Pueblo the Rio Grande was charged 
with cutting the Western Union telegraph wire between that 
place and Canon City to destroy the enemy's means of com­
munication, and of trying to stop the United States mail for 
the same purpose. Both sides rushed in re-enforcements, each 
trying to buy off the other's men with offers of higher wages. 
On the morning of Saturday, April 20, engineer DeRemer 
took a small party of men up the canyon to occupy the Royal 
Gorge, circled around the Atchison company's camp at the 
mouth of that defile, swam the river to the north bank, and 
laid claim to the vital entrance. The brilliant tactical maneuver 
was nullified when, that same day, the Canon City company 
obtained an injunction forbidding the Rio Grande to continue 
its work in the canyon. Writs were served at once on Robert 
F. Weitbrec, John A. McMurtrie and others who were holding 
the disputed territory. Trial was held immediately, after 
which McMurtrie was put under a $2,000 bond and Weitbrec 
under a $5,000 bond for violating the injunction. 24 With that 
the fight shifted to the courts which McMurtrie bitterly re­
marked were probably owned and controlled by the opposi­
tion. 25 As a parting shot, said the Rocky Mountain News, the 

23 O\\·en l\I e r eclith \Vil son, op. ci t ., p. 73 ; W eekly Gazette (Colo ra do Springs), 
July 27 , 1878. Hund r eds of pages of t estimony can b e f ound in the court records. 
copies of which a r e assembled in volumes e ntitl e d " D. & R . G. Ry. Co. and 
Associate E nte rpri ses," \Vestern H is t o r y D e partment, Den ver Public Library. 
See partic ularly volumes 3 through 6. 

" Daily R ocky 11Io11nt<1in News ( D enve r ), April 24, 1878 . 

"McMurt ri e to Palmer, April 1, 1881. l\CcMurtrie L e tte r B ook , op. cit. 
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BLOCKADE lN ROYAL GORG I<: "\VAR" 

Rio Grande men attacked the Atchison workers, drove them 
from the grade and threw their tools into the river. 26 

The real question was not so much that of whose construc­
tion crews were in the canyon first, but which law of the 
federal government was applicable. By the act of June 8, 
1872, the Rio Grande was granted a general right of way over 
the public domain provided that the road should reach Santa 
Fe within five years. In March 1877, upon application by the 
management this period was lengthened to a total of ten 
years. The Atchison company's main claim was based on the 

w Daily Rocky .Mountai n N ews ( D enver) , April 24, 1878 . 
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Right of Way Act, of March 3, 1875, passed to protect railroads 
in general against the monopolization of strategic mountain 
passes by any one line. Under this law the Canon City apd 
San Juan had surveyed the first twenty miles of its road, 
through the canyon, and the profile was accepted by the 
Secretary of the Interior June 22, 1877. Palmer got at the 
root of the matter when he said, "The question at issue really 
struck at the foundation upon which the Denver and Rio 
Grande system of railways rested; and the practical value of 
the right of way granted it by Congress in 1872 was now put 
to the test."2 1 

The days that followed the initial collision in the canyon 
saw the Rio Grande forces, barred from that location by 
injunction, fruitlessly try to locate an alternate route by way 
of Grape Creek and Texas Creek. The Atchison company's 
subsidiary also was prevented from working in the narrow 
defile and the sheriff's deputies were sent out to see that the 
court's wishes were obeyed. The Rio Grande, defeated in 
Judge John W. Henry's court, contended in somewhat less 
direct language than McMurtrie had used, that the local courts 
were biased, and asked to have the case removed to a federal 
court. Judge Henry refused, remarking that the railroad was 
already in contempt of his court, but after Robert Weitbrec 
appeared before him and satisfied the crochety jurist with 
regard to the technicalities of the matter, the case was taken 
before Judge Moses Hallett of the United States Circuit Court. 
On May 8 Hallett decided that for the time being neither 
company could continue construction in the canyon. Until, 
however, the case was finally decided, the Rio Grande was not 
restrained from working above that point. Three weeks later, 
on June 1, Hallett and Judge Dillon, of St. Louis, who was 
called into the case, issued a ruling. They based their decision 
upon the act of March 3, 1875, holding that each company had 
the right to construct a line through the canyon where there 
was sufficient room, neither to obstruct the other, and since 
they believed that the Canon City railroad had the prior right 
it was given permission to proceed with grading but it was 
not to lay any rails until it received permission from the 
court. It was the intention of the judges to see to it that the 
Rio Grande would be permitted to use the other road's tracks 
where the defile was too nar row for more than one line.2s 

21 Report of the Board of Directors of t he Denve1· and Rfo Grcinde Railway 
Company, 1 880, p. 7. 

"" W eekly Gazette (Colorarlo Springs), June 15, 1878. Two caseR we r e her e 
in volved: No. 154, The Denver and Rio Gr a n de Rail way Co. vs. Ebenezer T. 
Alling, et a l. and No. 155, The Canon City & San Juan Railway Co. vs. The 
Denver a n d Rio Granrle Railway Co. They can be fou nd in "D. & R. G. Ry. Co. 
a nd A ssocia t e Enterpr!Re~." \Vestern Hist or y Departmen t, Den ver Public L ib r a r y. 
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Upon receiving the May 8 decision both sides mustered out 
the larger part of their "armies." The A. T. & S. F. in discharg­
ing three hundred men, offered them $1.50 a day for their 
services, but since it had promised them $2.00 a day and $3.00 
a night for "enlisting," there was a violent reaction to this 
offer. A. A. Robinson, who was reported as trying to make 
an escape from Canon City, was cornered in an office by the 
angry, threatening mob of newly created veterans. Mean­
while, the locally much-hated Rio Grande made some amends 
by promptly paying off its men and offering them free trans­
portation to points of hiring.29 Local papers reported that the 
turn of events encouraged Rio Grande attorneys, who saw 
further avenues of legal pursuit in the decision, but Palmer, 
in writing of it, called the development an "overwhelming 
defeat." The reason for the President's gloom lay in the fact 
that "The contest for the Grand Canyon was in reality a fight 
for the gateway, not to Leadville only, but to the far more 
important, because infinitely larger, mineral fields of the 
Gunnison country, the Blue and Eagle Rivers and Utah."30 

To be shut out of a major portion of what he regarded as his 
own domain was discouraging indeed. 

The conflict now entered a "cold war" stage with opposing 
lawyers training their legal guns at each other while the 
remaining "troops" engaged in a holding action. D. & R. G. 
assistant chief engineer, James R. DeRemer painted "Dead­
Line" on a tie and laid it across the grade at the twentieth 
mile post above Canon City as a warning to the enemy. Four 
miles farther up he and his men constructed a stone fortress, 
and at the thirty-seventh mile post they built another. Years 
later a Rio Grande employee recalled that "Arsenals were 
maintained by both sides and the siege kept up for months; 
it was a noisy but bloodless war, most of the warriors using 
blanks."31 With the "front" thus defended the Rio Grande 
sought every other means at its disposal to harass the Atchison 
company. In June it refused to sell any tickets to the East 
by way of the A. T. & S. F., trying to cut off that line from 
Denver. It also tried to block the other road's entrance to 
Canon City. The Central Colorado Improvement Company, a 
Rio Grande subsidiary, owned the approaches to that place 
and the Atchison people were obliged to condemn under 
eminent domain to gain access, a process that kept it in court 
until October of 1878.32 

"Color ado Chief tain (Pu eblo), May 16, 1878. 
30 Repor t of t he Board of D i r ectors, 1880, op . cit., pp. 7, 12. 

11 Mr. a n d Mrs. James Ros e Han·ey, "Engineer Walk of the Den ver a n d Rio 
Gran de," T h e Co lorado Magazine, Vol. XXIV, Ko. 6 (November , 1947), 24 3. 

"'Owen Mer edith W ilson , op. cit., p . 76; Railroad Gazette, June 21 , 1878, 
p, 313 . 
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During the summer of 1878 the Rio Grande pressed its case 
in the federal courts. In an opinion rendered on August 23, 
Judge Moses Hallett again stated that both companies were 
entitled to proceed, with equal rights, under the protection 
of the court. Neither was to obstruct the other in any manner, 
but once again the Judge held that where the question of 
priority appeared, the Canon City and San Juan line had 
preference because it had complied with the act of March 3, 
1875, whereas the Rio Grande had not. Palmer's road at once 
appealed the decision to the Supreme Court of the United 
States, determined to win a clear cut decision. Its President 
publicly warned the Atchison people that he intended to come 
out on top, and that any work they did on the first twenty 
miles, or anywhere else between Canon City and Leadville, 
would be at the risk of later confiscation. 

Not content to sit and wait for the high court to make up 
its mind about the width of the Royal Gorge, Palmer, always 
the fighter, began further suits against the A. T. & S. F. The 
origin of this latest litigation stemmed from the fact that the 
Atchison company had formed a second subsidiary, known as 
the Pueblo and Arkansas Valley Railroad, whose intent it was 
to build a line between the twentieth mile post and Leadville. 
The shoe was now on the other foot , for here the Denver and 
Rio Grande had complied with all the necessary legalities, 
but the P. and A. V. had this time failed to file its plat with 
the General Land Office, as required by law. Asserting that 
there were a number of places on the Upper Arkansas canyon 
wide enough for but one right of way, Palmer threw his crews 
into the newly contested area on the assumption he could win 
any court fight that might arise here. " If this [plan] succeeds 
the Atchison Company would not be likely to enter the Canon 
at the Royal Gorge below, because they would not be able 
to get out above," he theorized. 33 

General Palmer, a man of unbounded enthusiasm and 
never-ending optimism, continued to feel that his organization 
could successfully do battle with any and all of the major 
roads who crossed swords with it. In mid-August he wrote to 
David Dodge, from New York, telling his colleague that there 
was a move afoot, not connected with the major transconti­
nental companies, " to rid us of our floating debt and to estab­
lish such credit for the Co. that we may build independently." 
He added that "there seems to be so many obstacles, uncer-

33 'l'he for egoing material, on the A u gust 23 decision a nd the s uit agains t 
the P. and A. V. can be found In the Railroad Gazette, Au g ust 30, 1878, p. 429. 
For a his tory of the P. and A. V. suit see B rief fo r t he P la intiff, In t he Circuit 
Court of the U nited States for the District of Color ado, The Den ver a n d Rio 
Grande Railway Company vs. The Pueblo a n d Arkan sas Valley Railroa d Com­
pany, Den ver a n d Rio Grande Archives, Item 406, Stat e A r chives , St a t e His ­
torical Society of Colorado, 1 )enver. 
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tainties, and objections to any alliance that really the risks 
of independence seem after all to be the least." Earlier in 
the summer he had said to Dodge that there were rumors of 
a row between Jay Gould and the bondholders of the Kansas 
Pacific that would imperil a pledge made by the Union Pacific 
and Kansas Pacific to aid the Rio Grande. Now, he wrote, if 
the suit over the Royal Gorge route developed favorably, "I 
think we can go it alone better than with either of our trouble­
some partners."0 4 

Accordingly, he went ahead. On September 7 Charles F. 
Woerishoffer and Company, New York financiers, agreed to 
loan the Rio Grande close to $400,000 to proceed with con­
struction and to meet its November bond interest. Part of the 
price paid was the agreement that the road's board of di­
r ectors would be enlarged, admitting new members mutually 
satisfactory to the bankers and the railroad, and that an 
executive committee was to be formed, the majority of whose 
members lived in or about New York and who had the power 
to make policy decisions at intervals between board meet­
ings.35 At once the Union Contract Company, builder of so 
much of the earlier road, advertised for bids to grade between 
Canon City to the mouth of the South Arkansas, right along­
side the Atchison company's branch. At the same time that 
r ival organization announced that it would build a standard 
gauge line into Leadville, under the Pueblo and Arkansas 
Valley Railroad name.36 

The resurgence of the Rio Grande was short-lived. The 
Atchison company answered the suit against its Pueblo and 
Arkansas Valley road by merging it with the Canon City 
and San Juan and setting up headquarters for the new com­
pany in Pueblo with a capital stock said to exceed six million 
dollars. This latest subsidiary announced that it proposed to 
build at once a whole series of lines, all of which significantly 
paralleled those of the Rio Grande, not only up the Arkansas 
Valley but throughout the San Luis and San Juan Valleys, 
and into the mining country northwest of Denver. It also 
brought immediate suit against the Rio Grande, alleging that 
it was interfering with construction of the line above the 
twentieth mile post on the route to Leadville. Both sides 
rushed in re-enforcements and again the much-contested 
r ight-of-way was in the headlines, with the erection of new 

3• P almer t o Dodge, f r om London, Engla nd , June 29, 1878, and from New 
York, August 17, 1878 . Item s 365 and 368 in Denver and Rio Grande Archives, 
D ivision of Sta t e Archives, State Historical Socie ty of Colorado, Denver. 

3• Meeting of th e B oard of Direct or s, Oct ober 5, 1878. D enver and Rio 
Grande W est ern R a ilroad Archives, Den ver a n d Rio Gra n de Offices, D enver . 

3• R ailroad Gazette September 20, 187 8, p. 465 ; Circular Number 44, Atchi­
son, T opek a & Santa Fe Railroad , Sep tem ber 17, 1878. Item 377 in D enver and 
R io Grande Archives, State Archives, State Hist orical Society of Colorado, 
Den ver. 
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stone forts, patrols of armed men, threats and counter-threats 
being reported.37 · ' 

By October Palmer yielded to the bondholders' insistence 
that the odds were too great. His organization had tried to 
continue its expansion in the face of depression and hostility 
from a major rail line, and now its resources were exhausted 
to the point of danger. On October 19 Colorado's "Baby Road " 
as it was affectionately known at home, was put out f~r 
adoption. On that day Sebastian B. Schlesinger and James 
D. Potts, rep~esenting the Rio Grande ?ondholders, signed an 
agreement with Thomas and Joseph Nickerson of the A. T. & 
S. F. to lease the narrow gauge for a period of thirty years. 
It had taken the transcontinental line just eight months after 
Strong had made his proposals of January, 1878 to fore~ com­
pliance and now the "Royal Gorge War" appea;ed to be over. 
Robert F. Weitbrec, the Rio Grande's Treasurer, later ex­
plained Palmer's position: "The money subscribed and paid in 
had been very largely on the personal solicitation of General 
Palmer and his associates. The bonds had fallen much below 
th~ price paid for them and they were largely held by the 
ongmal purchasers. There was a moral responsibility which 
coul~ not .and should _not be d~sregarded. If there was any 
way m which the security of the mvestment could be increased 
~t was entitle? to serious cor;isideration. This was an underly­
mg thought m [the] negotiation." The immediate hopes of 
the management, in this regard, were realized for a Denver 
paper reported that in the matter of a few days after the lease 
was signed ~enver and Rio Grande stock rose from eight to 
twenty, and its bonds went up from seventy-four to ninety­
four. 38 

The lease provided that the Rio Grande turn over its 337 
miles of track, rolling stock and other equipment at a rental 
that was to commence at _forty-three per cent of gross receipts, 
to be scaled d~wn to thirty-seven, and finally thirty-six per 
cent. The Atchison co~panJ'.' agreed not to build or encourage 
any parallel or competmg Imes, and any construction beyond 
Denver and Rio Grande terminal points was to be of a three­
foot gauge. The lessee promised that there would be no dis­
crimination in freight or other charges and that rent would 
be paid by the month. No provisions of the lease could be 
cancelled or modified without the formal written consent of 
the trustees of the Rio Grande's mortgages. It was finally 
agreed that all litigation between the roads should cease and 

31 Anderson, ov. cit., pp. 101, 102. 
38 Robert F. >Velthr c. "A Sketch of the Early History of the Denver & Rio 

Gr~nde Railroad," Tllr Trnil. \'ol. XVI, No. 4 (September, 1924) 6 7 · Denve1· 
Daily Tiuies_, October 22, 1878. ' ' ' 
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that the Rio Grande would be extended to both the San Juan 
silver mines and to Leadville.39 

News that the Rio Grande had been leased caused concern 
in Denver and jubilation at Pueblo. The Daily Times of 
Denver twitted one of its rivals for seeming "to regard it as 
a sort of double-barreled suction tube, whereby Denver is to 
be transferred in sections to Kansas City," but the paper 
admitted "There's no mistaking the uneasiness of the Gould 
monopoly under the proposed innovation. It is the wedge 
which is to split its power over the commerce of the north." 
Pueblo, on the other hand, thought that the lease was a good 
thing because it could now come abreast with the capital city 
and no longer would the metropolitans boast that "Denver 
is the state." Specifically, the Pueblo Chieftain saw the new 
development as a form of emancipation from the "bullheaded­
ness and blindness" of Rio Grande management that had 
tried to throttle the A. T. & S. F., and incidentally, Pueblo, by 
charging ruinous rates on through traffic as a means of retalia­
tion against its rival.•0 Actually, as a leading railroad journal 
pointed out, there was not much prospect that great benefits 
would accrue to the users, no matter in whose hands the 
management lay, for Rio Grande rates were high and prob­
ably would remain so under the new arrangement. It was the 
only way anyone could make any money over a line whose 
traffic was so light. Moreover, for a railroad so cheaply built, 
its debt of about $20,000 a mile was high and in order to pay 
even the interest rather high transportation rates were neces­
sary.41 

While the agreement to lease was generally regarded as 
the end of warfare between the two lines, it was merely an 
armistice. Palmer, who bitterly opposed the bondholders' 
desire to consolidate with, or lease to, the A. T. & S. ],<'., did 
everything in his power to delay the day when the agreement 
became effective. At the time of the lease negotiations Presi­
dent Nickerson, of the Atchison company, had tried to get 
Palmer to drop the litigation over the right-of-way above the 
twentieth mile post, promising to take over the contracts and 
to help the Rio Grande out of its obligations as much as pos­
sible, but he got nowhere. Palmer was afraid that if he ac­
ceded to this demand he would prejudice the case pending 

39 Copy of the lease in the Minutes of a Board of Directors Meeting at 
Colorado Springs, November 5, 1878 . Denver and Rio Grande A r chives, Denver 
and Rio Grande Western Railroad Offices, Denver. See also Railroad Gazette 
October 25, 1878, pp. 520-521 and Commercial and Financial Chronicl e and 
Hunt's Merchant's Magazine, Vol. XXVII (October 12, 1878), 382. The so­
called .Potts-Schlesinger agreement that preceded the lease can be found In 
lJ. & R. G. Ry. Co. and Associate Enterprises, Volume 3, Western History 
Department, Denver Public Library. 

••The Denver Daily Times, October 22, 1878 ; The Co lorado Chieftain 
(Pueblo), October 24, November 7, 1878 . 

41 Railroad Gazette, October 25, 1878, p. 516. 
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in the courts and a favorable decision here was his last, feeble 
~op~ . Nicker.son bitterly respo~ded to this conduct, saying, 
I did not thmk that after makmg peace we should still have 

war," but Palmer was not moved by the complaint.4 2 

The day set for the transfer to the A. T. & S. F., December 
1, 1878, came and passed, with the road still undelivered. On 
December 4, Palmer wrote a personal letter to Dodge, in 
which he talked of the "arrogant demand of possession before 
complying with the plain terms" on the part of Strong and 
Nickerson. "I have declined, of course, point blank & expressed 
ai:iazement at the demand," he reassured his general manager. 
Nickerson also had delayed on the question of the railroad's 
valuation and the matter of an Umpire, giving Palmer the 
impression, at one point in the negotiations, that the Atchison 
company wa~ about to throw up the whole proposition . But, 
a~ Palmer pomted out~ Boston financiers had continued to buy 
R10 Grande bonds until they had, at th e time of writing, about 
half of the mainline bonds, which convinced him that there 
would be no backing down now. He guessed that Nickerson 
had counted "on our yielding to their demand of possession 
and offer to deposit security," but he insisted hotly that "If 
they were to put up Boston itself now, it would not avail. 
The actual provision of the papers must be carried out or 
they lose the lease. " It angered him that the Atchison people 
were "insolent & arbitrary and more so at Boston r ecently" 
and concluded that things w ere now "in a thoroughly an­
tagonistic shape." 1 3 

Thoroughly angered, and deeply distrustful of Nickerson 
Palmer tried every means at his disposal to delay the actuai 
transfer. But the tide was against him. On November 29 at a 
general meeting of the stockholders in Colorado Springs, he 
warned that the terms of the lease might not be fulfilled and 
was ans~ered by a vote of ratification for the agreement. 
The President, however, was directed to give possession when 
he saw fit , a bit of leeway he quickly used by charging that 
the A. T. & S. F. had not paid for tools ties and other materials 
on the line, as agreed. Alexander C. Hunt, his representative 
even was accused of deliberately neglecting to make th~ 
necessary inventory with the hope that enough snow would 
fall to make such a check impracticable. Again the bond­
holders stepped in, u~willing t o see their plans sabotaged, 
and made a compromise arrangement whereby the Atchison 
comp3:ny would put up $150,000 as a guarantee that the 
materials would be paid for . The lessee agreed, provided that 
the transfer was made no later than December 14.4 4 Palmer 
---.Z-Owen Meredith \\' llson, op. cit., p. 91. 

_ 
43 Palmer ~o Dodge, fr.om Colorado Springs, December 4, 1878. Item 396 in 

I>e n ver .an d .R10 Grande \\ estern Rail road A rchives, D iv ision of S tate Archives 
S tate Historical Society of Colorado, Den ve r . ' 
. . "Owen Mer edith \\'ii~on, OJJ. cit. p . 93 · 1'he Weekl.y G azette (Colorado 

!Springs), December i, I i ~ ' 
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had played his last card; there was no further avenue of delay 
open to him. Shortly he and Strong met at Colorado Springs, 
where the necessary deposit was made, and the General re­
luctantly turned over his "Baby Road" to the enemy. H e 
telegraphed instructions to his subordinates that at midnight 
the Atchison people would take command. It was Friday, 
December 13. 

The transfer took place quietly. Denver merchants were 
gloomy, some of them feeling that their city would now be 
caught in between the cross-fire of a bigger railroad battle 
between the Union Pacific and Kansas Pacific on one side 
and the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe on the other, causing 
them to suffer. The more optimistic took refuge in the thought 
that perhaps such a war of transportation would result in cut­
throat competition and a resultant lowering of rates. P ueblo 
was happy, convinced that its railroad-the A. T. & S. F.­
was now "master of the situation" and all manner of good 
th ings would result in that city. The Chieftain reported that 
when the appointed time came that midnight, the change was 
effected peacefully, and that while "A good deal of 'chaff' 
was indulged in by the employees of the Atchison, Topeka 
and Santa Fe at the expense of the Denver and Rio Grande 
brethren, . . . everyone was good natured over it."'5 

The joviality did not penetrate the country very far north 
of Pueblo. Five days after the new management took over, 
Denver learned that rates between that point and Colorado 
Springs, Pueblo and Canon City had been raised variously 
from twenty-five to sixty cents a hundredweight. The gloom 
of the capital city merchants deepened. D. C. Dodge, retained 
as General Manager of the Rio Grande portion of the line by 
the Atchison company, complained that on the very first day 
the lessees had violated the agreement, and he continued to 
make such charges until he was removed from his position.46 

Palmer watched the developments quietly, waiting for his 
chance to pounce upon the interlopers and to wrest away the 
prize they had taken. There were two possibilities for him to 
win: first, that a clear violation of the lease could be shown· 
secondly, that the suit over the canyon route, still pending'. 
would result favorably to the Rio Grande. If either, preferably 
both, of these things happened, the doughty young railroad 
entrepreneur would get a second chance at running the nar­
row gauge line that, only a few years since, had been his 
brain child. Like a good gambler that he was, he stayed at 
the table and awaited the turn of the next card. 

••Denver Dail y Times, December 14, 17, 23, 1878; Dail y R ock y Jlfountain f
8
e
7
'1(s (Den ver), December 13, 1878; Colorado Chieftain (Pueblo), Decembe r 19, 

1878
'.• Ow en Me red ith \Vilson, op. cit .. p. 94; Denve1' Dail y Times, Decembe r 19, 



Charles ~t\..utobees 
By J ANET LECOMPTE* 

Chapter X 

In the summer of 1868, the Plains Indians, enraged by the 
approach of the railroad, were making attacks upon settle­
ments and wagon trains near Fort Lyon.1 Acting-Governor 
of Colorado Frank Hall wired Generals Sheridan and Sherman 
for troops, but his request was denied and he was told to 
raise his own militia.2 According to a newspaper account that 
has proved its unreliability in other cases, Charles Autobees 

took an active part in quelling the Indian outbreak of 1868. He 
wa-:; well off at one time, and when the Indians broke out in 
'68 he had perhaps a hundred Indian and Mexican scouts living 
on his ranch and he at once formed a company, marched to head­
quarters and the company was mustered into the service and 
Charlie wa3 installed a> captain, his son Mariano being second 
in command. He performed noble work in that campaign, but it 
was the last work he ever did for the government. 3 

A recent monograph on this Indian war shows, however, 
that the volunteer company was organized by M1riano instead 
of Charley, and that it never materialized anyway. At the 
end of August, Allen A. Bradford telegraphed Governor Hall 
for permission to raise a company of volunteers under "Lieu­
tenant Autibee." Hall wired back, " Is he all right. Do you 
endorse him?" Bradford answered that Auto bees had been 
in Baxter's company at Sand Creek and was a good man to 
fight Indians. But there were not enough horses to mount the 
men, and on September 3, Governor Hall acknowledged that 
the Pueblo volunteer company was a failure. 4 

The Indians ceased their attacks at the first sign of cold 
weather, and went as usual to their winter camps in what is 
now Oklahoma. But that year they were not to be safe there, 
for General Sheridan was organizing a winter campaign to 
surprise them and drive them once and for all onto reserva­
tions. General Sheridan's plan was to send troops from Fort 
Dodge, Kansas, who would establish Camp Supply on the 
North Fork of the Canadian and range south, while troops 
from Fort Lyon, Colorado, and Fort Bascom, New Mexico, 
would drive the Indians eastward into the trap prepared by 
the Fort Dodge troops. The Fort Dodge troops performed 

•copyright by Janet Lecompte, 1 959. 
'Gen. P. H. Sheridan, Record of Engagements W i th Hostile I nd'ians Witllin 

th e Military Division of the Missouri froi.i 1 868-188 2 (Wash., D . C., 1882). 
pp. 9-H. 

•Hobert G. Athearn, "C'olora<lo and the Tnilian War of 1868," The Colorado 
Magazine, Vol. XXXllI, No. 1 (January, 1956), 45-46. 

• P11eblo Chieftain r\Yeekly), June 22, 1882, p. 4, c. 2. See Chapter I, note 
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brilliantly. General Custer attacked B_la~k Kettle's vil~age on 
the Washita on November 27, 1868, krllmg the old chief and 
most of his people; a Kiowa village was captured on Decen_iber 
16· and before the end of December, Little Raven had given 
up his Arapahoes, Little Robe had surrendered the remainder 
of the Southern Cheyennes, and Satanta and Lone Wolf had 
surrendered the Kiowas. Even the column from Fort Bascom, 
which, in Sheridan's words, was "not expected to accomplish 
much " managed to harass some Comanches until they too 
gave 'up. 5 But the Fort Lyon t~oops, after three m1s:rable 
months in the field, lost at least six men, two hundred animals, 
and saw not a sign of an Indian from beginnin~ to end. " . 

Charles Autobees his sons Mariano and Jose, James ( Wild 
Bill" ) Hickok, and Jesse Nelson were scout~ for the first of 
two columns which left Fort Lyon.6 The first column con­
sisted of five cavalry companies under General W. H. Penrose, 
who had orders to establish a supply camp on the North Fork 
of the Canadian scout south to Antelope Hills on the Cana­
dian, and furthe~ south to the headwaters of Red River, driv­
ing the Indians ever eastward. General Pen;ose. started out 
on November 10, 1863, with forty-three days rat10ns, but on 
November 23, after he had established his supply camp on 
Palo Duro Creek in the Oklahoma panhandle, he ran out of 
food (an error for which the official report offers no expla­
nation) .7 

On November 29 General Eugene A. Carr arrived at Fort 
Lyon with instructi~ns to find General Penrose, replenish his 
supplies and, as ranking general, take over Penrose's com­
mand and his orders. General Carr started south on December 
2 with a train of 130 wagons and seven companies of Fifth 
Cavalry. On the third night out, while Carr's command was 
camped on a tributary of Two Butte Creek (henceforth k_nown 
as Freeze-out Canon) in southeastern Colorado, a v10lent 
snow storm forced the command to lay over a day.8 According 
to Sergeant Luke Cahill, the storm also caused the death of 
four pickets, 36 animals, and a whole herd of beef cattle,9 but 
General Carr's official report, a meager document that ap­
pears sometimes to be covering up blunders of the two gen­
erals mentions only one mule and no men lost.10 

F~r many days snow covered General Penrose.'s tracks, 
upon which General Carr was dependent to lead him to the 
supply camp, for (as Carr complained) Penrose had taken 

• i:>heridan, op. ci t ., pp. 14-18. 
•Lu ke Cah ill "Recollecti on s of a P la in sm an," MS, Library, Colorai'o State 

H istorica l Society, Denver . This was published as "An Incli:i-n c:i-mpalgn and 
Buffalo Bunting with 'Buffalo B ill ' " in The Co lorcul o Jlfagaz·ine, 'ol: IV, N<;>. 4 
(August, 1927), but s in ce the publ'shecl vers ion is somewhat altered m wordmg, 
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1 Report of Brevet Major General E. A. Carr, Commanding, Headquarte rs, 
Expedi· ion from Fort Lyon, C. T., April 7, 1869, War Department Records, 
National Archives. 

' Ib id. 
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io Carr. "Report," op. cit. 
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all the available "guides" with him, leaving Carr with "scouts" 
only-William F. (Buffalo Bill) Cody, Edmond Guerrier 
(Geary or Gerry), and Cogswell.11 On December 16, while 

Carr was camped on San Francisco (Coldwater) creek, a 
tributary of the North Canadian, Mariano Auto bees and three 
others of Penrose's scouts arrived in camp and announced that 
the supply camp on the Palo Duro was only twenty miles east. 
Carr sent nineteen wagons of provisions ahead to relieve 
Penrose's hungry men, and the rest of the wagons he sent 
back to Fort Lyon for more supplies, under the direction of 
Mariano Autobees.12 Mariano reached Fort Lyon on December 
30, loaded up the wagons, and returned to the North Cana­
dian.13 

On December 21, General Penrose himself arrived at Carr's 
camp and invited Carr to move to Palo Duro creek, which 
Penrose represented as having plenty of wood, water and 
grass. But Carr found Penrose's camp in deplorable condition; 
carcasses of dead mules littering the frozen ground, picketed 
mules eating their own dung, horses tottering under the 
weight of their riders, and men half-famished from two weeks 
on quarter-rations. Carr located a slightly better camp site, 
moved the men there, and then, on Christmas Day, left with 
500 mounted men for the Canadian. Whether Charles Autobees 
remained at the supply camp or accompanied Carr south we 
cannot say. Carr mentions only one guide, "Wild Bill" Hickok, 
by name14

; in his autobiography, "Buffalo Bill" mentions him­
self, "Wild Bill," and "Little Geary," as scouts with Carr, and 
also "a half-breed and three other scouts."15 

By the time Carr arrived on the Canadian, he had provi­
sions enough to last only five days-another shortage of 
rations he leaves unexplained in his official report. For a few 
days he camped on the Canadian and his men made sallies up 
and down the river looking for Indians, but in spite of his 
specific orders, he never reached Antelope Hills on the Cana­
dian, let alone the Red River, fifty miles further south. From 
the Canadian he sent "Wild Bill" and other scouts to Camp 
Supply with dispatches for General Sheridan, and with orders 
to return as soon as possible. Then, being out of rations and 
having seen no Indians, Carr returned to the North Canadian, 
arriving at the Palo Duro supply camp on January 8. On Janu­
ary 9, Mariano Autobees and the provision train arrived from 
Fort Lyon, and with the wagons Carr moved camp back to 
his original location on San Francisco creek. For a month the 
soldiers camped there in a wretched state. Two men died of 

11 Ibid. 
t2 Ibid. 
"Colorado Chieftain (Pueblo), Jan. 7, 1869. p. 2, c. 1. 
H Carr, .. Report," op. cit. 
••An Autobiography of Buffalo Bill (Colonel W . F. Cody), (N. Y., 1928), 

p. 164. 
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fever 16 ; almost all the rest suffered from scurvy until near 
the end of their ordeal "Buffalo Bill" brought in some fresh 
meat.17 In spite of the cold, fire was a luxury; wood was ex­
hausted and had to be hauled from Palo Duro creek, a three­
day round trip, and buffalo chips were too wet to burn. The 
animals were all starving, for where grass was not scanty, 
it was covered with snow. And "Wild Bill" and his scouts 
returned from Camp Supply empty-handed, having lost on 
the way all the dispatches, maps and letters from General 
Sheridan.18 

Still there were no Indians; the only conflict, other than 
the constant battle with the elements, occurred when "Wild 
Bill" and Mariano Autobees "had a slight misunderstanding 
which led to blows, and terminating by "Wild Bill" knocking 
down Mariano Autubees and administering a severe castiga­
tion."19 "Buffalo Bill" remembers this altercation as a general 
fracas, perhaps involving not only Mariano but Charles Auto­
bees as well: 

Among the scouts in Penrose's command were fifteen Mexicans. 
Among them and the Americans a bitter feud existed. When 
Carr united Penrose's command with his own, and I was made 
chief of scouts, this feud grew more intense than ever. The 
Mexicans often threatened to "clean us out," but they postponed 
the execution of the threat from time to time. At last, however, 
when we were all in the sutler's store, the long-expected fight 
took place, with the result that the Mexicans were severely 
beaten.2 0 

"Wild Bill" and "Buffalo Bill" had been drinking heavily, 
and they were hauled up before General Carr, but when the 
General heard their side of the story he decided the "Mexi­
cans" were as much to blame as the "Americans," and the 
incident was dismissed. 21 

On January 19, Carr sent another party of scouts to Camp 
Supply under Cogswell; on January 22, he sent a party to 
Fort Dodge under Mariano Autobees. By February 8, neither 
of these parties had returned. The animals continued to die; 
thirty or forty teamsters quit and forfeited their pay rather 
than endure any longer the miseries of camp; and, having 
heard somehow that the Indian campaign was over anyway 
(as indeed it had been, for a month and a half), Carr deter­
mined to return to Fort Lyon. The weary men arrived at the 
post on February 19,22 having walked all the way back 
through ankle-deep mud and sloughs, the mules being too 

16 Carr, "Report," op. cit. 
11 Cody says he shot antelope (Autobiography, p. 165) and buffalo (The 

Colorado Magazine, Vol. IV, No. 4, August, 1927, 135) for the command. 
Cahill mentions only buffalo ("Recollections"). 

is Carr, "Report," ov. cit. 
10colorado Chieftain (Pueblo), Jan. 28, 1869, p . 3. c. 2. 
'°An Autobiography of Buffalo Bill . .. , op. cit., p . 165. 
"Ibid. 
22 Carr, "Report," op. cit. 
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weak to carry them. 23 If any particular services were ren­
dered by Charles Autobees during the campaign, they were 
overlooked by the chroniclers. 

The winter campaign of 1868-69, however unimpressive 
was General Carr's part in it, nearly stopped Indian attacks 
upon settlers and travellers on the Upper Arkansas. In 1869 
th ere was hardly a hostile plains Indian in Colorado Territory. 
As the Kansas P acific Railroad approached from the east, 
towns of tents and shacks began to spring up on the Indians' 
old buffalo range, where the track would be laid. By the 
middle of December, 1869, the town of Kit Carson, Colorado 
(five shacks, twenty tents, twenty dug-outs), had been estab­
lished, although the track was not expected to reach it for 
several months. The town's future was supposed to be very 
bright, and on this assumption some Pueblo businessmen 
surveyed a road from Pueblo to Kit Carson,2

• while Capt. 
H . B. Bristol, commander of Fort Reynolds, opened another 
80-mile road from the Fort to the new town, with the help 
of "Charles Autubees (an old mountaineer) & his two sons 
Jose & Manuel who kindly volunteered to go along with me, 
their service was of value in looking for water & supplying 
the party with antelope." Bristol remarked that no one in 
the country was acquainted with the ground for more than 
twenty miles at a stretch, and that it was the finest grass range 
he had ever seen, teeming with game-Charley and his boys 
killed twenty-nine antelope in three days. 2 5 

The country opened up by the new road became a source 
of sport and relaxation for the inhabitants of Autobees town: 

A small party from Autobees' ranch went out last week on the 
new road from Reynolds to Carson, as far as Antelope Springs, 
and after a most exciting chase managed to lariat eight young 
mustang colts.~" 

The dispute between Charley and various commanders of 
Fort Reynolds over Charley's saloon and the land at the 
mouth of the Huerfano was forgotten by 1870, when Charley 
was employed by the Fort to run its ferry: 

Our readers and the public generally will be glad to learn that 
Charles Autobees has now in operation one of the finest ferry 
boats in the country running across the Arkansas, at Fort Rey­
nolds. The road to it on the north bank is at Mr. Foslick's ranch. 
The boat is a fine one capable of carry[ing] a six mule army 
wagon loaded. It was built by the Q. M. Department at Reynolds, 
but Charlie has made arrangements to run it for the fort. 27 

~ahill, "Recollections ... ," op. cit. Luke CaPil! Elates that the troops 
arrived at Fort Lyon "on or about the hst days of March, 1869." Also, he goes 
into some detail regarding a battle with the Indians, but he is almost surely 
incorporating eomeone else"s experiences into his narrative, for neither Ge;i~ral 
Carr nor "Buffalo Bill" mentions such an encounter, a nd Carr states expltc1tly 
that he saw no Indians. 
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On one of the rare occasions when Indians were still 
troublesome, Charley acted as guide for the troops. In April, 
1870, just after the Kansas Pacific reached Kit Carson, men 
working on the railroad, "distributed with as much heedless­
ness of danger as if employed in the streets of St. Louis," in 
the words of General Pope, were attacked by Indians thought 
to be Sioux. Ten or twelve workers were killed and several 
hundred head of stock were run off. Four companies of 
Seventh Cavalry under Major Reno, with Charley as guide, 
were sent out from Fort Lyon after the Indians, but after a 
long chase the Indians slipped across the South Platte to 
safety, and the troops returned without a fight. 28 

In July, 1870, Charley was employed as guide at Fort Rey-
nolds, but still he found time to help a neighbor: 

George Haas had twelve head of horses stolen an:l driven off 
al:;out two weeks ago from his ranch on the Chico. He trailed 
them to Big Bent [sic] on the Sandy, and by the aid of old 
Charley Autobees and his boys, who are under employ by the 
government as military guides, the horses were found to have 
been driven off by a squad of straggling soldiers belonging to 
the camp at Big Bent, and who pretend they took the herd to 
be wild horses. After a deal of trouble, Mr. Haas has succeeded 
in recovering the whole lot,.20 

By May, 1872, the settlers were so rarely bothered by 
Indians that Fort Reynolds was abandoned, 30 and from that 
time on Charley had no steady employment. At first he prob­
ably did not feel the loss of income. On April 27, 1872, he had 
been paid the extravagant sum of $1,000 for a quit claim to 
his share of the Cebolla grant by the English promoter Wil­
liam Blackmore and his partner John Graham, through the 
agency of Wilbur F. Stone, attorney for both parties. 31 Fur­
thermore the abandonment of the Fort Reynolds Military 
Reservation and its reversion to the lessor, Ceran St. Vrain, 
might mean that Charley would now regain the land at the 
mouth of the Huerfano. Ceran St. Vrain had died on October 
28 1870 but his son and administrator, Vicente, was as 
an'xious 'as his father had been that justice be done to all 
those to whom his father had promised land. 32 Charley and 

'·'General Pope, Report, H. Exec. Doc. 1, 41st Cong., 3d Sess. (Ser. 1446), 
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many others were to be disappointed, however, and none 
more sorely than the heirs of Ceran St. Vrain, who would 
soon own not a square inch of the great land that had dominat­
ed so many years of their father's life. 

The Vigil and St. Vrain, or Las Animas Grant was manipu­
lated by stupid or corrupt officers from the lowest to the 
highest-from the alcalde of Taos to the Governor of New 
Mexico; from the Register and Receiver of the land office at 
Pueblo, Colorado, to some in authority at Washington, D. C. 
It began as an empresario grant, more or less in conformity 
with the National Colonization laws of the Mexican Republic. 
Mexico encouraged either citizens or foreigners to establish 
colonies in her frontier areas, for which the empresario, or 
contractor, should be rewarded with land for his own use 
not to exceed eleven square leagues ( 48,825.48 acres) .33 On 
December 8, 1843, Cornelio Vigil and Ceran St. Vrain, both 
citizens living in Taos, petitioned Governor Manuel Armijo 
to "grant to each one of us a tract of land" in the locality 
embraced within the Huerfano, Apishapa and Cucharas rivers, 
and the next day the Governor directed, by means of a mar­
ginal note on the petition, that the alcalde of the proper juris­
diction give the petitioners possession of the land referred 
to. 3 4 According to the law, Vigil and St. Vrain had no right 
to demand their two tracts of land until they had established 
a settlement, but their failure to do this was a trifling irregu­
larity compared with the enormity of subsequent errors. 

Between December 9, 1843, when Governor Armijo made 
the grant, and January 2, 1844, when Jose Miguel Sanchez, 
Taos alcalde, certified that he marked the boundaries of the 
grant and put the grantees into possession of the land, the 
grant had enlarged over forty-fold. Instead of giving Vigil 
and St. Vrain two tracts within the large area, the alcalde 
gave them the large area itself,35 amounting to over 4,000,000 
acres. The grant was remote and uninhabited , and the people 
of New Mexico took no notice of it. Whether the alcalde's 
action was legal or illegal, the result of innocent error or of 
collusion, was not investigated; nor was it questioned whether 
the act of possession was approved by Armijo or the papers 
sent by him, as the law required, for approval to the terri­
torial deputation and then to the supreme government. 36 As 
the U. S. Surveyor General was to decide later, it was not 
the fault of the grantees if the grant was illegal, but of the 

'".Na!ion a l Colon ization law of Jan . 4, 1823; Decree of A u g. 18, 18 24 ; a nd 
C:o lo111zat1on L aw of N ov. 21, 1828, quoted by E lias Brevoor t, New Mexico. H er 
Nat u r a l Resources and , lttractions, being a Co llect ion of Fact s, mainly concern­
ing h er Geography, Climate .• . and Spanish and Mexican Land Gr ant s (Santa 
F e, 1874). B lack more papers No. 0893, Museum of New Mexico, Santa F e. 

34 "Lan d Cla ims In .:'\ew ).1exico," H. Report 457, 35 t h Cong ., 1st Sess. ( Se r . 
967), p . 269 f. T he original doc umen t is now Jn the B ureau of L a n d Manage­
m ent, Pos t Office, Denver. 

35 Ibi d. 
"' Brevoort, op. cit 
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governor who made it and allowed it to convey the public 
domain into private hands. And the governor's motive be­
comes clear when we remember that one pair of the private 
hands belonged to the governor himself. (See Chapter IV, 
p. 289.) 

In 1854 William Pelham was sent to the Territory of New 
Mexico as U. S. Surveyor General, with instructions to loca~e 
and determine the validity of over a thousand land claims.37 
In 1857 Pelham examined the Vigil and St. Vrain grant papers 
and sent them on to Washington with the recommendation 
that Congress confirm the grant. 38 He gave as his reasons 
the grant's continuous occupation, "whenever the condition 
of the Indians would allow it"; the extraordinary and absolute 
power of the governor at the time the grant was made (an 
admittance that Pelham knew the grant was illegal); the 
1848 Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo guaranteeing United States' 
r ecognition of ownership of lands formerly held under the 
Republic of Mexico; and the fact that no one had ever pro­
tested or filed claim against the grant. 39 But Congress was not 
so lenient as Pelham. The Act of June 21, 1860, confirmed the 
grant, but only to the extent of 22 square leagues, and it 
specified that land already sold or given away should be sub­
t racted from the 22 square leagues, leaving St. Vrain and the 
heirs of Vigil only the remainder.40 

There was no remainder. St. Vrain and his agents had 
already sold more than 300,000 acres of the grant, or three 
t imes the 22 square leagues allowed not only St. Vrain but 
Vigil as well. Now St. Vrain could do nothing but ignore the 
Act of June 21, 1860. His lawyers assured him that his right 
to the entire 4,000,000 acres would sooner or later be recog­
n ized, and he continued to sell off tracts within the large area. 
In 1862 he appointed William Craig his agent,.11 and Craig also 
sold the land,. sometimes turning the money he received over 
to St. Vrain, sometimes putting it in his own pocket.42 

" H. Exec. Doc. 1, 33d Con g., 2d Sess. ( Se r . 777), p . 87. 
,. " L a nd Cla ims in New M exico," op. cit .. 277 f . Tt is inte resting t ha t Kit 

Ca r son and Willi a m B r a nfor d t estifi ed t o H a t c her' s 1847 fa rm a nd W ootton' s 
Huer fan o v ill ag·e, both sh ort-li ved , but that ne ith e r o ne m entionecl Charles 
A utobees' far m a n d perma nent settlemen t. 

30 I bid. 
•0 U. S. S tatu tes, \ 'o l. X II, 71. 
" Pueblo Co. (Colo.) Recor ds, Boo!< I, 4 95 . 
"Appea l of H . l\I. F osd ick a n d A . .J. H o lli ,, l'ueblo, A pril 11, 1874, t o GLO. 

"Correspondence, 1 868-1 874,'' Colo. l'ri vate Land Cla im No. 17, l oo. cit .; "Col. 
Ceran St. Vra in in Acc't w ith \ Y. Craig, A cc't L as A ni m a s G r a n t," i bi d. 
E xactly a mon th before St. \' ra in d ied on October 28, 1870, he r evoked Cr a ig 's 
power of attorn ey a n d published i t" r eYocation in man y n ewspapers. (Las 
Animas Co., Colo., Recor cl s, Book I \', 91; P ueblo Co., Colo., Records, Book 
l lT, 782 . ) In the Oct ober tenn of the Las A ni mas coun ty p r obate court, Craig 
fi led a n account aga inst St. V r a in ' s estate fo r $5 0,00 0, but Vicen te St. Vrain 
l•r e,en ted his b ill aga inst Cra ig, ancl in f inal judgm en t the r uling was in favo r 
or lhe estate for $23,507.70, and Craig was or dered to turn oYer a ll paper s, et c. 
!Co lorado Chieftain, Oct. 17, 1871, p. 1, c. 2. ) The M o ra Co. (N. M .) Records, 
Book B, 360, give the amoun t of the j u dgmen t against Cr a ig as $21,000. The 
llresent L as A ni mas Coun ty Cle r k was unable to locate a n y r ecor d of t he above. 
a nd per haps these r eco r cls wer e among t hose taken fro m the court house and 
burned by per son s unknown in t he spring of 1874. ( 'l'estimony of Sa muel A . 
llu tchin s, D en ver , J u ly 14 , 1877, U . S. v. David H . l\loffat, Jr. et a l, Circuit 
Court N o. 9, D is tric t of Color a d o. ) 
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The Homestead Act was passed in 1862,43 and, informed by 
land officers that St. Vrain's grant was public domain, home­
steaders began to build their shanties there. By 1869 the 
homesteaders were numerous enough to demand that their 
rights to the land be clarified, for they had been continually 
threatened by St. Vrain's agents. Consequently, Congress 
passed another act, approved February 25, 1869, providing 
for a public survey of the whole 4,000,000 acre grant, and then 
within a year after completion of the survey, both home­
steaders ("actual settlers") and claimants who had bought 
their land from St. Vrain or the heirs of Vigil ("derivative 
claimants") were to prove up their claims to the satisfaction 
of the Register and Receiver of the proper land dist rict- and 
the decision of these land officers was to be final and without 
appeal. Upon the recommendation of the Register and Re­
ceiver, the Surveyor General would issue plats to successful 
claimants, which should be evidence of their title.•·• 

In May, 1869, the land office at Denver published a notice 
in the Colorado Chieftain, a P ueblo newspaper, addressed to 
claimants of the Las Animas Grant (as the Vigil and St. Vrain 
grant was n ow called) , advising them to furnish the Colorado 
Surveyor General with a description of their claims within 
three months. Charles Autobees had Allen A. Bradford pre­
sent h is claim: 

To the Hon. Wm. H. Lessig, Surveyor General of Colorado 
Sir In compliance with your notice of May 3d 1869 to the 

original claimants, derivitive claimants and actual settlers on 
the St. Vrain and Vigil or Las Animas Grant, I hereby give 
Notice that I claim as derivitive claimant by virtue of a purchase 
from the original grantees and actuai settLement upon the same 
the following described tract of land being within the original 
grant made to said St. Vrain and Vigil to wit "A certain tract 
of land and lying in the Huerfano River [sic] and commencing 
about a mite and a quarter from the junction of the Huerfano 
River with the Arkansas River thence running up the valley of 
said Huerfano river one and one half miles, so as to embrace all 
the irrigabLe lands in the valley of the said River Huerfano and 
known as Sec. no. 12 and No. 13 of Lower Huerfano on the survey 
and field notes made by Thomas Means." 

Given under my hand this 19th day of July 1869 
Charles Autubees 

by A A Bradford Atty 
In his letter of transmittal, Bradford explained to Lessig 

that the "old man had lived on this land for more than 12 
years."•5 

(To Be Continued) 

" l:I. l!Jxec. D oc. 1, 39th Cong., lHt Sess. (Ser. 12;8), p. 23. 
« U. S. Statutes, Yol. XY, 275. 
"A typewritten copy of Autobees' claim and Bradford's Jetter are in the 

Library of The State Historical Hoclety of Colorad o, Denver. The originals seem 
to have disappeared; at least. they are n ot among the body of Yig il and St. 
Vraln Grant material sent to \\"a~hington, nor with the records of the Colorado 
Surveyor General , n ow In the Bureau of Land Management, Denver. 


